

# An Anthem Company

# Member Handbook Nevada

[1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]

[www.myamerigroup.com/NV]

[Find a doctor on your smartphone or tablet at [directory.amerigroup.com]]

NV-MHB-0015-16 7/17



#### An Anthem Company

Welcome to [Amerigroup Community Care]. We're glad to have you as a member. This handbook tells you how [Amerigroup] works and how to help keep your family healthy.

You've probably already received your [Amerigroup] member ID card. If not, you should receive it in a few days. Your ID card tells you when your [Amerigroup] membership starts. The name of your primary care provider (PCP) is on the card, too. Please check your ID card right away. If the name of your doctor or any other information isn't right, please call us at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. Pactific time. We'll send you a new ID card with the correct information. If you have a new doctor, make an appointment with him or her soon to discuss your health needs.

#### Benefits beyond what you'd expect

With [Amerigroup], you get your regular Medicaid and Nevada Check Up benefits, plus extras designed to make a difference in your life:

- Need a doctor's help late at night? Use [LiveHealth Online] to video chat with a doctor anytime for help with minor illnesses like colds, allergies, flu or infections. Do you have a child between the ages of [5 and 14]? He or she can join a [Boys & Girls Club] at no cost to you. The clubs provide many fun and educational activities for children. It's a great place to go after school.
- We also offer free sports physicals [every 12 months] for children ages [6 to 18].

#### We're just a call or a click away.

When you have questions need help, our team is ready and willing to assist. Our website has many of the answers you need. Visit [www.myamerigroup.com/nv] to:

- Learn more about your benefits
- Choose or change your PCP
- Use our [Find a Doctor] tool to search for a doctor by name, type or location
- And a lot more

You can also call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] [Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. Pactific time]. If you have health questions and want to talk with a registered nurse, call our [24-hour Nurse HelpLine] at the phone number above. Our nurses are available anytime, day or night.

Sincerely,

[Amerigroup Community Care]

[To update your address or phone number, please call Nevada Medicaid at: Carson City [775-684-3651], Elko [775-753-1191], Las Vegas [702-668-4200], Reno [775-687-1900]].

# **Frequently Asked Questions**

- How do I change my primary care provider?
   See How to change your primary care provider section.
- Where can I find a list of behavioral health providers?
   See Where to get a list of [Amerigroup] providers section or go to [www.myamerigroup.com/NV].
- **3.** My child needs something to do after school and in the summer. Can [Amerigroup] help? See **Special [Amerigroup] services for healthy living** section.
- **4.** As an adult member, does [Amerigroup] cover my care? See **Wellness care for adults** section.
- 5. What if I don't have transportation to my doctor's appointment? See the **Transportation** section.
- **6.** I don't have a phone. How can I communicate with [Amerigroup] or my doctors? See **Extra [Amerigroup] benefits** section.
- How do I find out if my medication has been approved or requires authorization? See Medicines section.
- 8. How can I get another copy of my ID card?
   See the Go online section; Get the [Amerigroup] Mobile App section or the Your [Amerigroup] identification card section.

#### [AMERIGROUP COMMUNITY CARE] MEMBER HANDBOOK

[Desert Canyon, Bldg. 9] [9133 W. Russell Road] [Las Vegas, NV 89148] [1-800-600-4441] [(TTY 711)] [www.myamerigroup.com/NV]

**Welcome to [Amerigroup Community Care].** You'll get most of your Medicaid and Nevada Check Up benefits through [Amerigroup]. This member handbook will tell you how to get the most from your benefits.

# **Table of Contents**

WELCOME TO [AMERIGROUP COMMUNITY CARE]!	1
Your new health plan	1
How to get help	1
Call Member Services	1
Call the [Amerigroup] [24-hour Nurse HelpLine]	1
Go online	
Get the [Amerigroup] Mobile App	2
Important phone numbers	
About this member handbook	
Your [Amerigroup] identification card	3
YOUR PROVIDERS	4
Picking a primary care provider	4
Where to get a list of [Amerigroup] network providers	5
Seeing an out-of-plan provider	
If your primary care provider's office moves, closes or leaves the [Amerigroup] plan	6
How to change your primary care provider	
If your PCP asks for you to be changed to another PCP	
If you want to see a provider who isn't your PCP	
Second opinions	
Picking a women's health services provider	
Going to a specialist	8
GETTING HEALTH CARE	8
How to make an appointment with your PCP	8
After-hours callbacks	9
What to bring to an appointment	9
How to cancel an appointment	
Access for members with special needs	10
WHAT DOES MEDICALLY NECESSARY MEAN?	10
HEALTH CARE BENEFITS AND PREMIUMS	11
[Amerigroup] benefits	11

Prior authorization (pre-approval)	11
HOW WE MAKE DECISIONS ABOUT YOUR CARE	11
Extra [Amerigroup] benefits	
Nevada Check Up premiums	34
SERVICES COVERED BY NEVADA CHECK UP OR NEVADA MEDICAID	34
SERVICES THAT DON'T NEED A REFERRAL	34
SERVICES OFFERED BY [AMERIGROUP] WHEN TRANSFERRING TO/FROM ANOTHER MANAG	ED CARE
ORGANIZATION OR FEE-FOR-SERVICE MEDICAID	
SERVICES NOT OFFERED BY [AMERIGROUP], NEVADA CHECK UP OR FEE-FOR-SERVICE MEDI	CAID35
NEW TECHNOLOGY	35
DIFFERENT TYPES OF HEALTH CARE	36
Routine, urgent and emergency care: what's the difference?	
Routine care	
Urgent care	
Emergency care	
WELLNESS CARE FOR CHILDREN AND ADULTS	38
Wellness care for children, the Healthy Kids program	38
When your child should get Healthy Kids visits	
Blood lead screening	
Vision screening	
Hearing screening	
Immunizations (shots)	
SPECIAL KINDS OF HEALTH CARE	
Eye care	
Behavioral health (mental health/substance abuse)	
Family planning services Medications	
Special care for pregnant members	
When you become pregnant	
When you have your new baby	
After you have your baby	46
DISEASE MANAGEMENT CENTRALIZED CARE UNIT	46
SPECIAL [AMERIGROUP] SERVICES FOR HEALTHY LIVING	47
Health information	
Health A to Z	
Health education classes	48
Community events	
Boys & Girls Clubs	
Domestic violence	49

MINORS	49
ADVANCE DIRECTIVES (LIVING WILLS OR DURABLE POWERS OF ATTORNEY)	50
GRIEVANCES AND MEDICAL APPEALS	51
Grievances	51
Appeals	52
Medical appeals	52
Expedited appeals	54
Provider payment appeals	54
Fair hearings	55
OTHER INFORMATION	56
If you move or your family size changes	56
How to renew your Medicaid or Nevada Check Up benefits on time	
If you're no longer eligible for Medicaid or Nevada Check Up	57
How to disenroll from [Amerigroup]	57
Reasons you can be disenrolled from [Amerigroup]	58
If you get a bill or your primary care provider charges you a fee	59
If you have other health insurance (coordination of benefits)	60
Changes in your [Amerigroup] coverage	60
How to tell [Amerigroup] about changes you think we should make	60
How [Amerigroup] measures the quality of your care	60
How [Amerigroup] pays providers	61
YOUR RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES AS AN [AMERIGROUP] MEMBER	62
HOW TO REPORT SOMEONE WHO IS MISUSING THE MEDICAID OR NEVADA CHECK UP P	ROGRAM63
Important terms	63
HIPAA NOTICE OF PRIVACY PRACTICES	65

# WELCOME TO [AMERIGROUP COMMUNITY CARE]!

#### Your new health plan

[Amerigroup Community Care] provides your Medicaid and/or Nevada Check Up benefits. We're the health plan that will help you make the most of them! Working with you and your doctors, we'll help you get and stay healthy.

We offer you health care coverage to individuals living in urban Clark and Washoe counties.

The state requires us to give you the information below.

Please note that all monthly payments from Medicaid to [Amerigroup] may be recovered by Medicaid as a claim against your estate if we cover services included under Nevada's plan for estate recovery\* and you are one of the following:

- Age [55 or older]
- An inpatient of a medical facility

Medicaid can't recover payments from estates of deceased Medicaid members if there is a:

- Surviving spouse
- Child under 21 years old
- Child of any age with a disability or blindness

Medicare Part A and B copays paid after [January 1, 2010] also can't be recovered. For more information, visit [www.dwss.nv.gov] or call toll free [1-800-992-0900].

\*Per the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid's State Medicaid Manual, section 3810.

#### How to get help

#### **Call Member Services**

We're here to help you. Call us at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)], [Monday through Friday from [7 a.m. to 7 p.m.] Pacific time] if you:

• Have any questions about our health plan or your benefits

- Need help getting care or finding a plan provider
- Need an interpreter to help you communicate with your doctor in your native language or are deaf or hard of hearing
- Want to suggest how we can make your health plan better
- Want to participate in a committee to help improve health care services and community education

#### Call the [Amerigroup] [24-hour Nurse HelpLine]

Call our [24-hour Nurse HelpLine] at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] any time, day or night. Our nurses can help if you have health-related questions or need advice on:

- What to do to take care of yourself before you see the doctor
- How soon you need to get care for an illness
- When to go to the emergency room or urgent care center
- How you can get the care you need

#### Go online

Visit our website at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV]. We've made some updates and improvements. You can:

- Choose or find a PCP in the [Amerigroup] network
- Change your PCP
- Request an ID card
- Update your address or phone number (please also call Nevada Medicaid at: Carson City [775-684-3651], Elko [775-753-1191], Las Vegas [702-668-4200], Reno [775-687-1900]
- Download or request a member handbook or provider directory
- Learn about community programs and services
- Ask questions or make comments to help improve [Amerigroup]
- Learn about your rights and responsibilities as a member
- Report waste, fraud and abuse
- Read what we're doing to keep your private information safe and get a copy of the [Amerigroup] Notice of Privacy Practices. This Notice describes how your medical information may be used and shared and how you can access it

#### Get the [Amerigroup] Mobile App

Now you can access your [Amerigroup] member identification (ID) card and find doctors in our network from your smartphone or tablet. Just download the [Amerigroup] Mobile app. With [Amerigroup] Mobile, you can show, email or fax your member ID card to your doctor, pharmacy or hospital. You can also use our interactive symptom checker and explore health and wellness information. It's fast. It's free. And best of all, it's safe. You just need your ZIP code and [Amerigroup] ID number, printed on your ID card, to use these services.

To download the app, go to the Apple iTunes store or the Android Market or visit our website at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV].

Name	Description	Phone Number
[24-hour Nurse	Get medical advice or talk with a registered nurse	[1-800-600-4441
HelpLine]	about any nonemergency health-related questions	(TTY 711)]
	or concerns	
[Amerigroup] Member	Get a member handbook, update your member	[1-800-600-4441
Services	identification card, find a new provider, schedule	(TTY 711)]
	an appointment and much more	
Behavioral health care	Find information about behavioral health care	[1-800-600-4441
		(TTY 711)]
Disease Management	Speak with a disease management case manager if	[1-800-600-4441
programs	you have a chronic condition	(TTY 711)]
Emergencies	Call or go to the nearest hospital emergency	911
	room	

#### Important phone numbers

Name	Description	Phone Number
[eyeQuest]	Get information about your vision benefits	[1-888-300-9025
		(TTY/TDD 1-800-466-7566)]
[MTM]	Arrange for transportation to medically needed	Toll free at
	appointments and treatments (not available for	[1-844-879-7341]
	Nevada Check Up members)	
Nevada Check Up	Get Nevada Check Up program eligibility and	Toll free in-state at
	premium requirements	[1-877-543-7669 (KIDS
		NOW)]
		Toll free out-of-state at
		[1-800-992-0900]
Nevada Medicaid	Get Medicaid program eligibility and other	[775-684-7200 (North)]
	information	[702-486-1646 (South)]
		[Toll free at 1-800-992-
		0900]

#### About this member handbook

This handbook will help you understand your health care plan. The other side of this handbook is in Spanish. If you have questions, need help understanding or reading something in here, or want this in a different language, call us. The translation may take two weeks or more. We'll let you know when it can be available.

We can also get this member handbook in:

- A large-print version
- An audio version
- A Braille version

When there are benefit changes or other changes that impact your care and services, we'll let you know in one of these ways:

- We'll send you a newsletter
- We'll send you a notice to keep with your member handbook
- We'll update our member website at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV]

#### Your [Amerigroup] identification card

If you don't have your [Amerigroup] identification (ID) card yet, you'll get it soon.

- Please carry it with you at all times
- Show it to any doctor, hospital or pharmacy you visit

This card identifies you as an [Amerigroup] member.



An Anthem Company www.myamerigroup.com	Date-of-Birth: Subscriber #:¶
Member Name:	
Medicaid Number: *¶	
Primary Care Provider (PCP):	
PCP·Telephone#:¶	
Vision-Care: 1-888-300-9025¶	
Member Services/Nurse HelpLine/Pha	armacy and Behavioral Health: 1-800-600-4441

Nevada Medicaid ID card

Your [Amerigroup] ID card shows:

Nevada Check Up ID card

- The name and phone number of your PCP
- Your Medicaid or Nevada Check Up number
- The date you became an [Amerigroup] member
- Important phone numbers

If your [Amerigroup] ID card is lost or stolen, call us right away at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]. We'll send you a new one.

#### For members who don't speak English:

- We can help in many different languages and dialects.
- We'll provide an interpreter to help you talk to your doctors during your appointments. Please call Member Services at least [24 hours before your appointment].

#### For members who are deaf or hard of hearing:

- Call 711 to reach Member Services.
- If you need a sign language interpreter for a doctor visit, please call us at least five business days before your appointment. We'll set up and pay for the service.

## **YOUR PROVIDERS**

#### Picking a primary care provider

All our members must have a primary care provider (PCP) in the [Amerigroup] plan. Your PCP is your regular doctor who you'll see for all your basic health care needs, such as yearly checkups, minor illnesses or referrals to specialists. He or she will:

- Get to know you and your health history
- Provide all your basic health services and send you to other doctors or hospitals when you need special care
- Help you get the right care for you

When you became an [Amerigroup] member, you should have picked a PCP. If you didn't choose one, we assigned one to you. We picked one close to your home. The name and phone number of your PCP is on your [Amerigroup] ID card. You may also choose a primary care site (PCS), such as a Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC), and get medical care from any doctor in the PCS. It's important to schedule an appointment with your

PCP within the first 90 days of enrollment with [Amerigroup]. You need to discuss your health history and medications with him or her as soon as possible.

If you aren't happy with the PCP we assigned you, you can pick another one at any time. Just look in the provider directory that came with your new member package, or go online to [www.myamerigroup.com/NV]. Our search tool lets you search for providers by name, location and specialty. Need help? Call Member Services. No matter how you make the change — online or on the phone — we'll send you a new member ID card.

If you're already seeing a PCP, you can look in the provider directory to see if that provider is in our network. If so, you can tell us you want to keep him or her by calling Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)], [Monday through Friday from [7 a.m. to 7 p.m.] Pacific time].

Your PCP can be any of the following, as long as he or she is in the [Amerigroup] network:

• Family or general practitioner

Physician assistant

• Internist

Pediatrician

- Certified nurse practitioner
- - Obstetricians/Gynecologists (during pregnancy)

You can also pick a Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC) as your PCS if you'd like.

You and your children don't have to have the same PCP. If you're pregnant, your newborn will be assigned to the same PCP as the other covered children in the family.

You may be able to have a specialist or a state-operated clinic as your PCP if you have a:

- Disability
- Chronic condition
- Complex condition

Your specialist must agree to take on PCP responsibilities for your care. Members with disabilities have additional time to select a PCP. If you don't select a PCP, we'll automatically assign one. You can ask us to change your PCP at any time.

#### Where to get a list of [Amerigroup] network providers

In addition to this member handbook, we'll give you a provider directory. You should've received the provider directory with your new member package. The provider directory includes a list of primary care providers (PCPs), behavioral health providers, specialists, optometrists, chiropractors, drug stores and hospitals that participate with [Amerigroup]. The directory will show whether the provider is accepting new patients and if he or she is board-certified.

The directory also lists:

- Office addresses
- Office phone numbers
- Office hours
- Languages spoken at the office

If you didn't receive a provider directory, please contact Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]. We'll send you a new directory. You can also search for a provider online at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV]. Go to Find a Doctor.

#### Seeing an out-of-plan provider

There may be times when you'll need to see a provider who isn't part of the [Amerigroup] network.

Before you joined [Amerigroup], you may have been ill or injured and seeing a PCP who isn't in our network. If so, please let us know about the care you were getting. In some cases, you may be able to keep seeing this PCP while you pick a new one in our network. Call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] to find out more. [Amerigroup] will work with you and your providers to give you a smooth transition to your new PCP.

It's important to schedule an appointment with your doctor within the first 90 days of enrollment with us. You need to discuss your health history and medications with your PCP as soon as possible.

If you require medically needed care that isn't available from a plan provider and your PCP requests the services, [Amerigroup] will provide those services at no cost to you for as long as the service you need is required and not available from a plan provider.

To see an out-of-plan provider, you or your doctor will need to ask for approval from us first.

#### If your primary care provider's office moves, closes or leaves the [Amerigroup] plan

Your PCP's office may move, close or leave our plan. If this happens, we'll:

- Call or send you a letter within 15 business days of receiving the provider termination notice; in some cases, you may be able to keep seeing this PCP while you pick a new one
- Work with you and your PCP to give you a smooth transition to your new plan PCP
- Help you pick a new PCP if you ask us for help by calling Member Services
- Send you a new ID card within five business days after you pick a new PCP

#### How to change your primary care provider

If you need to change your PCP, you may pick another PCP from the network. To change your PCP, do one of the following:

- Look in the [Amerigroup] provider directory that came with your new member package
- Go to [www.myamerigroup.com/NV] to search for a new PCP or view the provider directory online
- Call Member Services for help at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]

When you ask to change your PCP:

- We can make the change the same day you ask for it
- The change will be effective the next day
- You'll get a new ID card in the mail within five business days after your PCP has been changed

#### If your PCP asks for you to be changed to another PCP

Your PCP may ask for you to be changed to another one. He or she may do this if:

- Your PCP doesn't have the right experience to treat you
- The assignment to your PCP was made in error (like an adult assigned to a child's PCP)
- You fail to keep your appointments without calling the PCP to let them know or schedule a new appointment
- You don't follow his or her medical advice over and over again

• Your PCP agrees a change is best for you and your medical needs

If your PCP asks you to change to another PCP for any of these reasons, please contact Member Services for help finding a new PCP or check the provider directory. You may also use the **Find a Doctor** tool online at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV].

#### If you want to see a provider who isn't your PCP

If you want to see a provider who isn't your PCP, talk to your PCP first. He or she may give you a referral to see another provider.

Please read the section about **Specialists** to learn more about referrals. Also read the section **Services That Do Not Need a Referral** for more details.

#### **Second opinions**

[Amerigroup] members have the right to ask for a second opinion about any treatment or diagnosis at no cost. You can get a second opinion from a network provider or a non-network provider if a network provider isn't available.

Ask your PCP to submit a request for you to have a second opinion.

#### Picking a women's health services provider

Female members can see a network OB/GYN for women's health needs. These services are provided at no additional cost to members and include:

- Well-woman visits
- Prenatal care
- Care for any female medical condition
- Family planning

You don't need a referral to see any qualified family planning provider, even if this provider isn't part of the [Amerigroup] network.

Your PCP may be able to treat you for OB/GYN care. If not, you'll need to see a network OB/GYN.To find an OB/GYN from the list of network providers:

- Look in the [Amerigroup] provider directory that came with your new member package
- Go to our online provider directory at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV]
- Call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)], [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)], [Monday through Friday from [7 a.m. to 7 p.m.] Pacific time]

While you are pregnant, your OB/GYN can be your PCP. The nurses on our [24-hour Nurse HelpLine] can help you decide if you should see your PCP or an OB/GYN.

If you're pregnant when you enroll in [Amerigroup] and your current provider isn't part of the [Amerigroup] plan, you may be able to continue getting OB/GYN care from your current provider. This is called continuity of care.

#### Going to a specialist

Your PCP can take care of most of your health care needs, but sometimes you may also need care from other kinds of providers. There many different kinds of providers in our plan who give other medically needed care. These providers are called specialists because they have training in special areas of medicine.

Examples of specialists are:

- Allergists (allergy doctors)
- Dermatologists (skin doctors)
- Cardiologists (heart doctors)

If you need to see a specialist, your PCP will give you a referral. The referral form tells you and the specialist what kind of health care you need. Be sure to take the referral form with you when you go to the specialist.

In a few cases, a referral isn't needed. Read the section in this handbook **Services That Don't Need a Referral** for more details.

Sometimes, a specialist can serve as your PCP. This may happen if you have a special health care need that is being taken care of by a specialist. If you believe you have special health care needs, you can:

- Talk to your PCP
- Call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]

If you're receiving care from a specialist who isn't part of our plan when you join [Amerigroup], please let us know. In some cases, you may be able to keep seeing him or her until you can be switched to an [Amerigroup] plan specialist. Call Member Services to find out more.

If you're currently receiving care from a specialist whose office is moving, closing or who will no longer participate in our plan, we'll:

- Call or send you a letter within 15 business days of receiving the provider termination notice. In some cases, you may be able to keep seeing this specialist for care while you pick a new one. Call Member Services to find out more about this.
- Work with you and your PCP to give you a smooth transition to your new specialist.
- Help you pick a new specialist if you need help.

## **GETTING HEALTH CARE**

#### How to make an appointment with your PCP

It's important to visit your PCP to get regular checkups, called wellness visits, and for care when you're ill. Call your PCP's office whenever you need care. The phone number is on your [Amerigroup] ID card. If you were assigned a new PCP when you enrolled in [Amerigroup], it's important to schedule a wellness visit within 90 calendar days. If your PCP didn't change when you enrolled, call him or her to see if it's time for you to get a checkup. If it is, set up a visit with your PCP as soon as you can.

Wellness visits can help you stay healthy and let your PCP take better care of you if you get sick. When you aren't feeling well, call your PCP's office. Let them know your symptoms and they'll tell you how soon you need to be seen. If you need help making an appointment, call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] [Monday through Friday from [7 a.m. to 7 p.m.] Pacific time].

Wait Times for Appointments		
Emergencies (Call 911 or go to the nearest hospital)	Immediately	
PCP visits*		
Routine care	Within two weeks	
Urgent care	Within two calendar days	
Specialist visits*		
Routine care	Within 30 calendar days of referral	
Urgent care	Within three calendar days of referral	
Behavioral Health		
Non-life threatening emergency	Within six hours	
Urgent Care	Within 48 hours	
Initial visit for routine appointments	Within 10 business days	
Prenatal care visits*		
First trimester	Within seven calendar days	
Second trimester	Within seven calendar days	
Third trimester	Within three calendar days	
High-risk pregnancies	Within three calendar days or sooner if needed	
*Same-day, medically needed appointments are also available.		

When you go to the office for your appointment, you shouldn't have to wait more than one hour to be seen.

#### After-hours callbacks

We want you to be able to get care at any time. When your PCP's office is closed, an answering service will take your call. Your PCP should call you back within 30 minutes. Talk to your PCP and set up an appointment.

#### What to bring to an appointment

When you visit your provider, be sure you have:

- Your [Amerigroup] ID card
- Any medicines you're taking
- Any questions you may want to ask

If the appointment is for your child, be sure you bring your child's:

- Identification (ID) cards
- Shot records
- Any medicine he or she is taking

#### How to cancel an appointment

If you make an appointment and then can't go, it's important to:

- Cancel the appointment at least 24 hours in advance. You can call the doctor's office or call Member Services and ask us to cancel for you. This will let someone else get an appointment at that time.
- Make a new appointment when you call to cancel.

Your PCP may ask us to switch you to a new PCP if you frequently miss appointments without cancelling.

#### Transportation

If you need a ride to and from your medical appointments for routine visits, call MTM toll free at [1-844-879-7341]. You can call to schedule a ride [Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 5 p.m.] Please call MTM as soon as possible and at least five business days before your scheduled appointment. MTM will work with you to find the right transportation for you and may consult your health care provider.

Nonemergency transportation service is only available to Medicaid recipients. Nevada Check Up members are not eligible for this service.

#### If you have an emergency and need transportation, call 911 for an ambulance.

- Be sure to tell the hospital staff you're an [Amerigroup] member.
- Get in touch with your PCP as soon as you can. Your PCP can:
  - Arrange your ongoing treatment
  - Help you get needed hospital care

#### Access for members with special needs

[Amerigroup] plan providers and hospitals should help members with disabilities get the care they need. If you use a wheelchair, walker or other aid, and need help getting into an office:

- Make sure your provider's office knows this before you go to your appointment. This will help them be ready for your visit.
- Call Member Services if you want help talking to your doctor about your special needs.

# WHAT DOES MEDICALLY NECESSARY MEAN?

Your PCP will help you get medically necessary services. Medically necessary health services are:

- Consistent with the symptoms or diagnosis of the illness or injury being treated
- Consistent with generally accepted qualified medical standards, including:
  - Guidelines and standards that are endorsed by professional health care or government agencies
  - Generally accepted medical standards
- Not experimental (not new or untried)
- Safe and effective for the member (Medicaid and Nevada Check Up will only cover items and services that are needed for the diagnosis or treatment of an illness or an injury, or to improve the working of a malformed body part)
- Not mainly for the ease of the member, the member's caregiver or the provider

As an [Amerigroup] member, you should follow the treatment plan prescribed by your doctor. This can help you get well faster. If you don't follow the treatment plan, your condition could worsen. At the next medical necessity review, if your health services aren't helping you get better, the services could end.

# HEALTH CARE BENEFITS AND PREMIUMS

#### [Amerigroup] benefits

Below is a summary of the health care services and benefits [Amerigroup] offers. Your PCP will either give you the care you need or refer you to another provider.

For a few special benefits, you must be a certain age or have a certain kind of health problem. In some cases, your PCP may need to get prior approval from [Amerigroup] before you can receive a benefit. Your PCP will work with us to get approval. If we don't approve a service, your PCP may provide you with another service.

There are no copays or deductibles required for any covered services.

If you have a question or aren't sure if [Amerigroup] offers a certain benefit, call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] [Monday through Friday from [7 a.m. to 7 p.m.] Pacific time].

#### Prior authorization (pre-approval)

Some [Amerigroup] services and benefits need prior authorization (approval). This means your PCP must ask [Amerigroup] to approve the services or benefits. Emergency services, post-stabilization services and urgent care don't need prior approval.

[Amerigroup] has a Utilization Review team that looks at approval requests. The team will decide:

- If the service is needed and if it's covered by [Amerigroup]
- Within 14 calendar days after receiving the request and clinical information from your PCP. We'll share our decision with your PCP by fax or phone

Your PCP can ask for an expedited review if a delay could cause grave harm to your health. We'll notify your doctor of our decision within three days of getting the request.

If we say we won't pay for the care, or the approved services are less than the amount or type requested, you or your doctor can ask for an appeal. To learn more about the appeal process, see the **Grievances and Medical Appeals** section. If you appeal, we'll notify you of our decision within 30 days. If you have a question or aren't sure if we offer a certain benefit, you can call Member Services for help. For a list of the services we cover, go to the **[Amerigroup] Covered Services** section.

# HOW WE MAKE DECISIONS ABOUT YOUR CARE

Sometimes, we need to make decisions about the care and services we offer. This is called Utilization Management (UM). Our UM process follows National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) standards. All UM decisions are based on members' medical needs and current benefits.

We don't encourage providers to underuse services. And we don't create barriers to getting health care. Providers don't get rewarded for limiting or denying care. Amerigroup's providers use clinical practice guidelines to determine necessary treatments and services.

When you or your provider asks for certain care that needs a pre-approval, our Utilization Review team decides if the service is medically necessary and covered by Amerigroup.

Our UM staff is available Monday through Friday from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. To speak to a UM representative, please call [1-xxx-xxx-xxxx].

#### [Amerigroup] covered services

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
APPLIED BEHAVIORAL HEALTH ANALYSIS (ABA)	<ul> <li>Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA) is a behavior intervention model to treat children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD).</li> <li>ABA is offered to Medicaid-eligible individuals under age 21 in accordance with Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment (EPSDT). ABA services include: <ul> <li>Assessment</li> <li>Evaluation/reevaluation</li> <li>Treatment intervention plan w/measureable objective goals</li> <li>Targeted goals (data driven)</li> <li>Functional communication training</li> <li>Self-monitoring skills</li> <li>Adaptive living skills</li> <li>Cognitive skills</li> <li>Speech, occupational, physical therapy</li> <li>Durable Medical Equipment (DME)</li> <li>Speech Generating Device (SGD)</li> <li>Verbal skills</li> <li>Peer play</li> <li>Social skills</li> <li>Parent training</li> <li>Family education</li> <li>Family counseling</li> <li>Case management</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
ALLERGY SERVICES	<ul> <li>Covered services include:         <ul> <li>Treatment — Immunotherapy (commonly called allergy shots) is a useful treatment for patients with allergies. It's based on the belief that people who get injections of a specific allergen will no longer be sensitive to it.</li> <li>Testing — Allergy tests are used to determine what a person is allergic to. There are many methods of allergy testing. Common types include:</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
	<ul> <li>Skin tests</li> <li>Elimination-type tests</li> <li>[Amerigroup] doesn't cover testing that is new or untried in nature and not proven to be effective.</li> </ul>
ASSISTIVE/AUGMENTATIVE COMMUNICATION DEVICES	Devices, such as speech synthesizers, that help members with limited vocal or verbal communication skill convey their thoughts.
ASSISTANT SURGEON	An assistant surgeon aids the performing surgeon during a surgical procedure. These services are covered for qualifying procedures.
AUDIOLOGY SERVICES	<ul> <li>These services help decide whether a person can hear within the normal range and, if not, which parts of hearing have changed and to what degree. If an audiologist diagnoses a hearing loss, he or she will advise what options may help a patient (e.g., hearing aids, cochlear implants, surgery). Amerigroup covers: <ul> <li>Medically needed hearing aids; prior approval is required</li> <li>Hearing aids and supplies made during a Healthy Kids checkup, for members under age 21,</li> <li>Certain limits apply:</li> <li>One device every 24 months</li> <li>One audiology test every 12 months; a referral from your PCP is required</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH	<ul> <li>Covered services up to limits outlined in the Nevada Medicaid and Nevada Check Up program include: <ul> <li>Crisis Intervention for members who go through a psychiatric crisis to:</li> <li>Reduce symptoms</li> <li>Help stabilize and restore a person to his or her former level of function</li> </ul> </li> <li>Crisis Stabilization to help a person in crisis return to his or her prior level of function</li> <li>Prescribed Electroconvulsive Therapy<sup>+</sup> to treat severe mental illness:</li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	COVERAGE LIMITS +These benefits need an okay from
	[Amerigroup]
	<ul> <li>If a person doesn't respond to antidepressant</li> </ul>
	medicines and/or psychotherapy
	<ul> <li>On an outpatient basis</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Hospital-based Detoxification/Chemical</li> </ul>
	Dependency Services <sup>+</sup> :
	<ul> <li>Must be medically needed</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Are given in an inpatient hospital setting</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Are aimed to restore the mental and physical</li> </ul>
	well-being of those who abuse drugs or alcohol
	Certain limits apply as determined by the Nevada Medicaid
	and Nevada Check Up program.
	Inpatient Professional Services <sup>+</sup> given within an
	inpatient setting by:
	– Psychiatrists
	<ul> <li>Psychologists</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Clinical social workers</li> </ul>
	– Therapists
	<ul> <li>Medical doctors or specialists</li> </ul>
	Intensive Outpatient Program for psychiatric and
	chemical dependency <sup>+</sup> that:
	<ul> <li>Meets several times a week for at least three hours</li> </ul>
	of mental health or substance/alcohol abuse
	<ul> <li>services</li> <li>Aims to improve a person's level of function to</li> </ul>
	prevent a relapse or hospital admission
	Methadone Maintenance Program for the treatment of
	heroin addiction
	Neurotherapy — Also referred to as neurofeedback or
	EEG biofeedback, neuotherapy is a process to observe
	the central nervous system and the brain. This allows
	for a better understanding of possible irregularities in
	the brain and treatment can train the brain to correct
	the irregularities
	Observation Services furnished by or at a hospital to:
	<ul> <li>Assess an outpatient's condition</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Decide the need for an inpatient hospital admission</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Services include use of a bed or at least periodic</li> </ul>
	checks by a hospital's nursing or other staff.

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from
	[Amerigroup]
	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup]</li> <li>Observation can't exceed 48 hours.</li> <li>Outpatient/ambulatory detox and/or rehab services<sup>†</sup>: <ul> <li>Must be medically needed</li> <li>Are aimed to restore the mental and physical well-being of those who abuse drugs or alcohol</li> </ul> </li> <li>Outpatient mental health/substance abuse services include: <ul> <li>Basic medical and therapeutic services</li> <li>Crisis services</li> <li>Review and diagnosis of care</li> <li>Individual, family and/or group therapy unless part of an EPSDT screening - 26 sessions</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Medicine management</li> <li>You may get these services from authorized physicians,</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>psychologists or other mental health professionals.</li> <li>Partial Hospital, Psychiatric and Chemical Dependency Treatment programs<sup>+</sup> that:         <ul> <li>Are offered Monday through Friday for at least six hours each day</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Are furnished by a hospital in an outpatient setting</li> <li>Provide a range of psychiatric and substance abuse treatment services</li> <li>Offer partial hospital care as an alternative to</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>inpatient psychiatric or substance abuse care</li> <li>Psychosocial rehabilitation services/basic skills training<sup>†</sup> to help persons reach or maintain their greatest level of function to help persons: <ul> <li>Make the most of their personal strengths</li> <li>Develop ways to cope and deal with areas of</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>weakness</li> <li>Build a supportive environment in which to function</li> <li>Psychological and neuropsychological testing<sup>+</sup> that is used by psychologists to test:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Mood</li> <li>Personality type</li> <li>Learning skills</li> <li>These tests can be used to help decide a psychiatric</li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	COVERAGE LIMITS +These benefits need an okay from
	[Amerigroup]
	diagnosis. Covered services include:
	<ul> <li>Neuropsychological testing</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Neurobehavioral testing</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Psychological testing</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Residential treatment center (RTC)<sup>+</sup> — An RTC provides treatment for:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Alcohol and drug abuse to live-in residents</li> </ul>
	who don't require acute medical care
	<ul> <li>Mental health to children and adolescents</li> </ul>
	who don't need intense acute inpatient care
	Services include:
	<ul> <li>Individual, group and family therapy</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Medicine management</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Medical treatment</li> </ul>
	Lab testing
	<ul> <li>Room and board</li> </ul>
	Nevada Check Up members through their 19th birthday
	[Amerigroup] covers medically needed care (physician services,
	lab work, dental, X-ray services, etc.) and professional services
	provided in an RTC. Nevada Check Up covers the admission and
	daily room rate.
	Medicaid members age 21 and older
	[Amerigroup] will cover services for the first month of
	admission. On the first day of the month after admission, the
	member will be disenrolled from [Amerigroup] and get all
	Medicaid-covered services from the fee-for-service program.
BIOFEEDBACK (AS PART OF NEUROTHERAPY)	Neurotherapy – [Amerigroup] covers medically needed
	neurotherapy when given by a licensed qualified mental health
<b>Neurotherapy</b> — Also referred to as neurofeedback or EEG biofeedback,	professional (QMHP) within the scope of his or her practice.
neurotherapy is a process to observe the	Biofeedback - A certified biofeedback technician may assist in
central nervous system and the brain. This	giving biofeedback treatment, but a QMHP must provide the
allows for a better understanding of possible	related psychotherapy.
irregularities in the brain and treatment can	
train the brain to correct the irregularities	<ul> <li>Certain limits apply:</li> <li>Attention deficit disorders — 40 sessions</li> </ul>
<b>Biofeedback</b> treatment helps train persons to	
improve their health by using signals from	<ul> <li>Anxiety disorders — 30 sessions</li> <li>Depressive disorders — 25 sessions</li> </ul>
their own bodies.	<ul> <li>Depressive disorders — 25 sessions</li> <li>Bipolar disorders — 50 sessions</li> </ul>
	Bipolar disorders — 50 sessions

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
<ul> <li>Physical therapists use it to help stroke victims regain movement in paralyzed muscles.</li> <li>Specialists use it to help their patients cope with pain.</li> <li>Psychologists use it to help a tense and anxious individual learn to relax</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Obsessive compulsive disorders — 40 sessions</li> <li>Opposition defiant disorders — 40 sessions</li> <li>Post-traumatic stress disorders — 35 sessions</li> <li>Reactive attachment disorders — 50 sessions</li> <li>Schizophrenia disorders — 50 sessions</li> </ul>
BLOOD ADMINISTRATION AND OTHER BLOOD PRODUCTS	[Amerigroup] covers injecting of blood or blood plasma into a vein or artery.
BOTOX INJECTIONS	Covered services <sup>†</sup> include treatment for jerkiness of limbs as a result of a brain or spinal cord injury, including cerebral palsy. Treatment for cosmetic purposes isn't covered.
CARDIAC REHABILITATION SERVICES	<ul> <li>This program is for those who have had: <ul> <li>A heart attack</li> <li>Angina</li> <li>Congestive heart failure</li> <li>Other forms of heart disease or who have undergone heart surgery</li> </ul> </li> <li>Covered services include: <ul> <li>Counseling and information about the patient's condition</li> <li>A supervised exercise program</li> <li>Lifestyle and risk factor change programs such as quitting smoking</li> <li>Information on nutrition and controlling high blood pressure</li> <li>Emotional and social support</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
CASE MANAGEMENT	<ul> <li>Case management is designed to respond to a member's needs when the member's condition or diagnoses require care and treatment for long periods of time.</li> <li>When a member is in a case management program: <ul> <li>An [Amerigroup] nurse helps identify other medically suited methods or settings in which care may be given.</li> <li>A provider, on behalf of the member, may request the member take part in the program. The nurse will work with the member and the member's providers to</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from
	[Amerigroup]
	decide:
	<ul> <li>The level and types of services needed</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Other settings where care may be given</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Equipment and/or supplies needed</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Nearby community-based services</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Communication needed between the member and</li> </ul>
	the member's PCP and specialists
	Complete member assessment
	A case manager will assess a member's health care needs.
	This assessment includes:
	<ul> <li>A range of questions to identify and assess the member's:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Medical and social needs</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Functional limits</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Ability for self-care</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Current treatment plan</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Phone interviews or home visits to collect and assess</li> </ul>
	information received from members or their
	representatives; to complete the assessment, case
	managers will also get information from:
	<ul> <li>The member's family, PCP and specialists</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Other sources to set up and decide the member's</li> </ul>
	current medical and nonmedical service needs
	Individualized plan of care
	Case managers will use information from the assessment to
	decide the proper care management services.
	The case manager will:
	<ul> <li>Work with the member, his or her family, and the</li> </ul>
	member's providers to develop and set up the proper
	care plan
	<ul> <li>Think of the member's needs for social, educational,</li> </ul>
	therapeutic and other nonmedical support services as
	well as the strengths and needs of the family
	When nonmedical needs are complex, case manager nurses
	will work with:
	Case manager social workers
	Member advocates or outreach associates to contact

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
	members they haven't been able to reach
	<ul> <li>If a member is getting care management services from other sources (e.g., a community services organization), the care plan will define:</li> <li>The process for managing medical, mental health and substance abuse, and social service aspects of care</li> </ul>
	The roles of each care team
	Case managers will work with the member's PCP and specialists to ensure the care plans support the providers' medical plans.
CHEMOTHERAPY AND RADIATION	<ul> <li>Chemotherapy<sup>+</sup> is the use of drugs to kill bacteria, viruses, fungi and most often, cancer cells.</li> <li>It can destroy cancer cells at sites great distances from the original cancer.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>More than half of all people diagnosed with cancer receive chemotherapy.</li> </ul>
	A <b>chemotherapy regimen</b> is a treatment plan and schedule that includes drugs to fight cancer plus drugs to help support finishing the cancer treatment at the full dose or schedule.
	<ul> <li>Radiation therapy is the use of a certain type of energy, called ionizing radiation, to kill cancer cells and shrink tumors.</li> <li>In some cases, the goal of radiation treatment is to destroy an entire tumor</li> <li>In other cases, the goal is to shrink a tumor and relieve symptoms.</li> </ul>
	In both cases, doctors plan treatment to spare as much healthy tissue as possible.
CHIROPRACTIC SERVICES	For Medicaid members under age 21 and Nevada Check Up members through their 19th birthday. <sup>+</sup>
	Covered services include:
	<ul> <li>Medically needed chiropractic services when referred to a chiropractor as part of a Healthy Kids checkup and when a diagnosis of spinal subluxation is made by the referring doctor</li> </ul>
CIRCUMCISION	Circumcision is covered up to 1 year of age.

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
CLINICS	Federally qualified health centers (FQHCs) provide preventive services or services to treat an illness or chronic disease.Rural health clinics (RHCs) provide preventive services.Rural health clinics (RHCs) provide preventive services.Members can receive covered services at these facilities from the following providers:• Physicians• Clinical psychologists• Nurse practitioners• Clinical social workers• Physician assistants• Registered dietitians• Certified nurse midwives• Nutritional professionals• Visiting nurses• Visiting nurses
	You can get these services without a referral from your PCP.
COCHLEAR IMPLANTS	<ul> <li>These devices<sup>†</sup>:</li> <li>Help capture, analyze and code sound</li> <li>Help a person identify and be aware of sounds</li> <li>Aid in communication for persons who are extremely hard of hearing</li> </ul>
COSMETIC/PLASTIC/RECONSTRUCTIVE SURGERY PROCEDURES	Cosmetic surgery <sup>†</sup> , performed to reshape normal structures of the body to improve a person's appearance and self-esteem, is not a covered benefit. Reconstructive surgery, performed on abnormal structures of the body caused by birth defects, developmental abnormalities, trauma or injury, infection, tumors, or disease, may be covered. Reconstructive surgery is usually done to improve function, but in some cases may also be done to help come close to a normal appearance. This may include cleft palate repair, breast reconstruction, etc. Covered reconstructive surgery services include: • Surgery for the prompt repair of an injury caused by • an accident
	Surgery to improve a malformed body part in order to improve function
[DENTAL SERVICES]	[Call the Division of Health Care Financing and Policy (DHCFP) toll free at [1-800-992-0900] or visit www.dhcfp.nv.gov/ for information about receiving dental services.]

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
DERMATOLOGY	Dermatology is the science that treats the skin and its structure, function and diseases, including the hair and nails. [Amerigroup] covers this service.
DIABETIC SERVICES	<ul> <li>Services include:</li> <li>Screenings, which consist of lab tests for members who have certain risk factors for diabetes or who are diagnosed with prediabetes</li> <li>Training to teach members to self-manage their diabetes; the program includes: <ul> <li>Instructions on how to self-monitor blood glucose</li> <li>Training on diet and exercise</li> <li>An insulin treatment plan specially for the person who is insulin-dependent</li> <li>Reasons for patients to use skills for self-management</li> </ul> </li> <li>Supplies to self-test glucose levels of the blood to monitor and control diabetes including: <ul> <li>Glucometers</li> <li>Syringes</li> <li>Lancets</li> <li>Needles</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
DIAGNOSTIC TESTING	<ul> <li>Diagnostic testing<sup>+</sup> includes:</li> <li>Laboratory and radiology services for testing or performing clinical studies of materials, fluids or tissues from patients; services include, but aren't limited to: <ul> <li>Obtaining and testing of blood samples</li> <li>Testing of blood chemistry</li> <li>Performing pathology, microbiology and other diagnostic testing using physical specimens such as tissue, urine or blood</li> <li>Performing bone mass/density studies</li> <li>Testing for HIV/AIDS</li> <li>Doing lead blood screenings</li> <li>Performing prostate-specific antigen testing</li> <li>Offering sleep studies and sleep therapy; coverage of sleep studies is limited to two services in a 12-month period</li> <li>Offering portable X-ray services</li> <li>Doing preadmission tests</li> <li>Performing radiology and colorectal cancer screening procedures</li> </ul> </li> <li>Nuclear medicine services, as needed, to diagnose and treat patients; services include procedures and tests performed by a radioisotope lab using radioactive materials such as: <ul> <li>Computed tomography (CT)</li> <li>Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)</li> <li>Cardiac testing</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	[Amerigroup] covers diagnostic testing and radiology services for diagnosis and treatment of an illness or injury if medically needed. You need a referral from a licensed practitioner to get these
DIALYSIS SERVICES	<ul> <li>services.</li> <li>Covered dialysis services<sup>+</sup> include: <ul> <li>Those given to remove toxic materials and maintain fluid, electrolyte and acid-base balances in cases of weak or absent kidney function</li> <li>Home dialysis managed by the patient or a patient's representative under the guidance of a freestanding</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
	<ul> <li>clinic</li> <li>Services received in an inpatient or outpatient hospital setting</li> </ul>
DISPOSABLE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT	[Amerigroup] covers medically needed disposable supplies that wouldn't generally be useful to a person without an illness or an injury. Members should ask their PCP if they need disposable medical equipment.
DURABLE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT	<ul> <li>Durable medical equipment<sup>+</sup> is equipment: <ul> <li>Used to serve a medical purpose</li> <li>Fitted for use in the home</li> <li>Able to withstand repeated use</li> </ul> </li> <li>Covered services as determined by the Nevada Medicaid and Nevada Check Up program include: <ul> <li>Certain medically needed equipment (e.g., crutches, wheelchairs, ventilators, etc.)</li> <li>Items that wouldn't generally be useful to a person without an illness or an injury</li> </ul> </li> <li>Members should ask their PCP if they need durable medical equipment.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Medicaid doesn't cover:</li> <li>Enteral nutrition in the event of temporary impairment</li> <li>Physical fitness or personal recreation equipment</li> <li>Personal care or hygiene products</li> <li>Household items such as air conditioners and ceiling fans</li> <li>Environmental products</li> <li>TDD devices</li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
DRUGS/INJECTABLES/BIOLOGICALS	A <b>drug</b> <sup>+</sup> is a substance that can be used to change a chemical process or processes in the body.
	<b>Injectable</b> drugs are those drugs that can be managed by a health professional or self-managed. These may be drugs such as insulin, growth hormones, etc. Over-the-counter drugs and pharmaceuticals are those that can be purchased without a prescription from a physician.
	<b>Biologicals</b> in medicine refer to substances made from a living organism or its products. Biologicals may be used to prevent, diagnose, treat or relieve symptoms of a disease (for example, vaccines).
	<ul> <li>Medicaid doesn't cover:</li> <li>Agents used for weight loss</li> <li>Agents used to promote fertility</li> <li>Agents used for cosmetic reasons or hair growth</li> <li>Less than effective drugs</li> <li>Experimental drugs</li> <li>Agents used for impotence/erectile dysfunction</li> <li>[Amerigroup] has a list of commonly prescribed drugs. You or your child's PCP or specialist can choose drugs from this list to help you get well. This list is called a preferred drug list (PDL). It is part of the [Amerigroup] formulary.</li> <li>The covered medicines on the PDL include prescriptions and certain over-the-counter medicines.</li> <li>All [Amerigroup] network providers have access to this drug list.</li> <li>Your or your child's PCP or specialist should use this list when he or she writes a prescription.</li> <li>Certain medicines on the [Amerigroup] PDL need prior approval.</li> <li>All medicines that aren't listed on the [Amerigroup] PDL need prior approval.</li> <li>See the Medications section under the heading Special Kinds of Health Care.</li> <li>Here's a list of things to remember:</li> <li>[Amerigroup] covers up to a 30-day supply of prescriptions.</li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
	<ul> <li>You can get prescriptions filled at any plan pharmacy.</li> <li>Plan pharmacies include most major pharmacy chains and many independent community pharmacies.</li> <li>CVS, Walmart, Kmart, Raleys Drug Center, Smith's Food &amp; Drug Center, and Sav-On are part of our plan and will accept your [Amerigroup] ID card.</li> <li>Walgreens and Rite Aid are not in the [Amerigroup] plan.</li> <li>You can find a list of plan pharmacies in the provider directory you received with your new member package.</li> </ul>
	If you need help finding a pharmacy, call Member Services toll free or visit our website at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV].
EARLY CHILDHOOD INTERVENTION (ECI) SERVICES	These services assist families with children ranging from birth to school age that have developmental disabilities and delays. The program provides screening and resource referral methods that support families in helping effected children reach their potential through developmental services.
EARLY PERIODIC SCREENING, DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT (EPSDT) SERVICES (MEDICAID)/ WELL-BABY/WELL-CHILD SCREENINGS (NEVADA CHECK UP)	<ul> <li>The EPSDT program covers screening and diagnostic services to decide health care needs and other measures to correct or improve:</li> <li>Physical or mental defects</li> <li>Chronic conditions found in Medicaid members under age 21 and Nevada Check Up members through their 19th birthday</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>This program is known as Healthy Kids in Nevada.</li> <li>Covered services for Medicaid Members under age 21 and Nevada Check Up Members through their 19th birthday include: <ul> <li>Complete medical screens, including:</li> <li>Complete health and development history with assessment for both physical and mental health development</li> <li>Complete physical exam</li> <li>Proper immunizations (shots) according to age and health history</li> <li>Lab tests, including lead blood level assessment</li> <li>Health education</li> <li>Vision screening</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
	<ul> <li>Hearing screening</li> <li>Other EPSDT services, care and screenings for pregnant members under age 21 are not covered.</li> </ul>
EMERGENCY SERVICES	Emergency services include inpatient and outpatient services by a qualified provider to assess or stabilize an emergency medical condition. See the section <b>Different Types of Health</b> <b>Care</b> under the heading <b>Emergency Care</b> for more details.
EMERGENCY TRANSPORTATION	[Amerigroup] covers all emergency transportation. See the <b>Transportation</b> section for more details.
ENTERAL NUTRITION	Enteral nutrition, also called tube feeding, is a way to provide food through a tube placed in the nose, stomach or small intestines.
FAMILY PLANNING	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup] covers family planning services for members of childbearing age. Members can receive family planning services from plan or non-plan providers. Services include: <ul> <li>Education</li> <li>Counseling</li> <li>Physical exams</li> <li>Birth control devices, supplies and Norplant</li> </ul> </li> <li>Members don't need a referral for family planning services. See the Family Planning Services section under the heading Special Kinds of Health Care for more details.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>The following services aren't covered:</li> <li>Tubal ligations and vasectomies for persons who are: <ul> <li>Under age 21</li> <li>Mentally incompetent</li> <li>Institutionalized</li> </ul> </li> <li>Sterilization reversals</li> <li>Abortions and hysterectomies (These services are excluded from family planning but may be covered under certain conditions; for example, to save the life of the mother, for rape or incest, or if medically necessary. Your provider will explain these services and ask you to sign a consent form.)</li> </ul>
GASTROENTEROLOGY SERVICES	Gastroenterology is a branch of medicine concerned with the structure, functions, diseases and pathology of the stomach

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
	and intestines.
GENETIC AND DNA TESTING	<ul> <li>Genetic and DNA testing<sup>+</sup> is considered medically needed to establish a diagnosis of an inheritable disease when all of the following conditions are met: <ul> <li>There is a direct risk of inheriting the disease</li> <li>The result of the test will impact the treatment being delivered</li> <li>A diagnosis remains uncertain after gathering a family history and completing a physical exam, genetic counseling and conventional diagnostic studies</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Covered services include:</li> <li>Assessing if there is a genetic disorder</li> <li>Diagnosing such disorders</li> <li>Counseling and following up with members with known or supposed disorders</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup] doesn't cover:</li> <li>Prenatal diagnosis to find out the sex of the fetus unless there is reason for genetic disease</li> <li>Self-testing home kits</li> <li>Genetic testing for cleft disorders</li> <li>Experimental genetic testing</li> <li>Blood typing for paternity testing</li> </ul>
HIV/AIDS CARE	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup] covers:</li> <li>Standard diagnostic tests to diagnose HIV infection</li> <li>Medications to treat HIV infection</li> <li>[Amerigroup] doesn't cover experimental or investigational studies or treatments</li> </ul>
HOME HEALTH CARE	[Amerigroup] covers medically needed home health care services <sup>+</sup> provided at a member's home if services are clearly defined as part of an approved plan of care.
	<ul> <li>Covered services include:</li> <li>Personal Care services</li> <li>Home environment evaluation</li> <li>Skilled nursing services</li> <li>Home health aide services</li> <li>Dietitian services</li> </ul>

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
HOME INFUSION/TOTAL PARENTERAL NUTRITION (TPN)	<ul> <li>Respiratory therapy</li> <li>Physical therapy (up to 24 visits/per year for adults)</li> <li>Occupational therapy (up to 24 visits/per year for adults)</li> <li>Speech therapy (up to24 visits/per year for adults)</li> <li>Services provided by a licensed nurse to administer drugs, intravenous fluids or total parenteral nutrition (TPN) through an intravenous catheter.</li> </ul>
	TPN may be given to people who aren't able to absorb nutrients through the intestinal tract or to those undergoing high-dose chemotherapy or radiation and bone marrow transplants.
HOSPITAL INPATIENT MEDICAL AND SURGICAL	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup] covers medically needed inpatient hospital care<sup>†</sup> under the following conditions: <ul> <li>A provider has ordered the stay</li> <li>Acute care services are provided</li> <li>The member has been or will be transferred to an acute care bed</li> </ul> </li> <li>Inpatient hospital services include: <ul> <li>Bed and board</li> <li>Nursing services</li> <li>Diagnostic or therapeutic services</li> <li>Medical or surgical supplies</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
HOSPITAL OUTPATIENT	[Amerigroup] covers outpatient hospital services. <sup>+</sup>
HYPERBARIC OXYGEN (HBO) THERAPY	<ul> <li>Hyperbaric oxygen (HBO) therapy treats:</li> <li>Carbon monoxide poisoning</li> <li>Air embolism</li> <li>Smoke inhalation</li> <li>Acute cyanide poisoning</li> <li>Decompression sickness</li> <li>Certain cases of blood loss or anemia where increased oxygen may help balance the blood deficiency</li> <li>Topical HBO therapy isn't covered.</li> </ul>
HYSTERECTOMY	[Amerigroup] covers medically necessary hysterectomies. <sup>+</sup> Your provider will require you to sign a consent form.

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
	A hysterectomy performed for the sole purpose of sterilization isn't covered.
MEDICAL REHABILITATION CENTER OR SPECIALTY HOSPITAL	[Amerigroup] covers medically needed services provided at either a freestanding rehab hospital or a rehab unit of a general hospital. <sup>†</sup> The admission must be within a year of the injury or illness that requires rehab services.
	[Amerigroup] also covers care provided in a freestanding long- term acute care hospital or a long-term acute care unit of a general hospital.
OBESITY SURGERY/BARIATRIC SURGERY	Bariatrics <sup>+</sup> is a branch of medicine to help prevent, control and treat obesity.
	<b>Obesity surgery/bariatric surgery</b> is a weight-loss method limited to persons who have a body mass index (BMI) above 40. Surgery may also be an option for those with a BMI between 35 and 40 who have health problems like heart disease or type 2 diabetes.
	Pregnant women, women less than six months postpartum or women who plan to conceive in less than 18 to 24 months after obesity surgery/bariatric surgery aren't eligible for these services.
	[Amerigroup] will cover services up to limits as outlined in the Medicaid and Nevada Check Up program. <sup>+</sup>
OPHTHALMOLOGY/OPTOMETRY SERVICES (VISION SERVICES)	<ul> <li>Covered services include:</li> <li>One complete eye exam every 12 months</li> <li>Refractive exams</li> <li>Frames</li> <li>Lenses</li> <li>Fitting, dispensing and adjustment of glasses</li> <li>Follow-up exams</li> <li>Contact lenses (in certain circumstances)</li> </ul>
OUTPATIENT SURGERY	[Amerigroup] covers medically needed outpatient surgery. <sup>+</sup>
PERSONAL CARE SERVICES	[Amerigroup] covers medically needed personal care services <sup>†</sup> given to members who need help with daily living. These services are given at certain times and as described in the Nevada Medicaid program. Covered services include:

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]
	<ul> <li>Help with bathing, grooming or dressing (one service, limited to 60 minutes a day)</li> <li>Help with toileting needs</li> <li>Help with transferring and positioning persons who can't walk</li> <li>Help with walking</li> <li>Help with eating</li> <li>Help with taking medicines</li> </ul> The following services aren't covered: <ul> <li>Tasks a person is able to perform</li> <li>Services given by willing caregivers</li> <li>Tasks that aren't on the approved service plan</li> <li>Services to maintain a household</li> <li>Services given to a person other than the planned receiver</li> </ul>
PHYSICIAN SERVICES	licensed by the state. [Amerigroup] covers medically needed care <sup>+</sup> provided by a: • Certified nurse-midwife • Certified registered nurse practitioner • Nurse anesthetist • Physician/osteopath • Physician assistant
PODIATRY SERVICES	Ask your PCP if you think you need to see one of these providers. [Amerigroup] covers medically needed preventive foot care for Medicaid members under age 21 and Nevada Check Up members through their 19th birthdays who are referred to a podiatrist as part of a Healthy Kids checkup. Routine foot care (trimming of nails and removal of corns and calluses) isn't covered. Services for adults with Diabetes
POST-STABILIZATION CARE	Services for adults with DiabetesWe will allow reimbursement for medically needed podiatry services for our diabetic members over 21 years of age.Post-stabilization care services are Medicaid-covered services you receive after emergency medical care. You get these services to help keep your condition stable after you have an emergency.

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]					
REHABILITATIVE THERAPY (PHYSICAL THERAPY, OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY and SPEECH THERAPY)	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup] will cover the therapy needed to develop and maintain a safe rehabilitative plan.<sup>+</sup> During the last visits of rehabilitative treatment, your provider may create a program which includes:</li> <li>Training for yourself and your family members</li> <li>Maintenance services limited to 10 sessions every three years per patient*</li> </ul>					
SKILLED NURSING CARE	<ul><li>*All maintenance therapy services require prior approval.</li><li>[Amerigroup] covers the first 45 days of medically needed care</li></ul>					
	in a nursing facility. On the 46th day, you, the member, will be disenrolled from [Amerigroup]. The rest of your stay will be covered by Nevada Check Up or Nevada Medicaid.					
SMOKING CESSATION PROGRAMS/SUPPLIES	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup] covers products to help you stop smoking, including:</li> <li>Over-the-counter (OTC) patches</li> <li>Gums</li> <li>Lozenges</li> <li>Inhalers</li> <li>Tablets</li> </ul> These products are available with a prescription from your PCP					
SPECIAL CASE MANAGEMENT	<ul> <li>and are limited to two 90-day courses of treatment per year.</li> <li>[Amerigroup] covers special case management services for the following groups: <ul> <li>Children and adolescents who are severely emotionally disturbed (SED)*</li> </ul> </li> </ul>					
*SED or SMI Determinations	<ul> <li>Adults with serious mental illness (SMI) *         <ul> <li>Infants and toddlers with developmental delays</li> </ul> </li> <li>A case manager will help:         <ul> <li>Assess and evaluate health care needs</li> <li>Develop a plan of care</li> <li>Get referrals and needed services</li> <li>Coordinate services between PCPs and specialists</li> <li>Monitor care and follow-up</li> </ul> </li> <li>SED or SMI determination must be completed by a qualified [Amerigroup] provider.<sup>+</sup></li> <li>Upon determination, Medicaid members who are diagnosed</li> </ul>					

COVERED SERVICE	<b>COVERAGE LIMITS †</b> These benefits need an okay from [Amerigroup]					
	as being SED or SMI can choose to disenroll from [Amerigroup] and continue to get benefits through Medicaid.					
	<b>Nevada Check Up members</b> diagnosed as SED or SMI don't have the option to disenroll and will continue to receive covered services through [Amerigroup].					
	Annually, Medicaid and Nevada Check Up members diagnosed as SED or SMI will be evaluated and a new determination will be made. If the evaluation doesn't result in a redetermination as SED or SMI, the Medicaid member who chose to disenroll from [Amerigroup] will be re-enrolled as of the first day of the next possible month.					
SWING BEDS	[Amerigroup] covers the first 45 days of care from a swing bed in an acute hospital, when medically needed. Once the stay goes over 45 days, the member will be disenrolled from [Amerigroup]. The rest of the stay will be covered by Nevada Check Up or Medicaid.					
TELEHEALTH [(LiveHealth Online)]	LiveHealth Online allows you to see a doctor through a video chat session on your smartphone, tablet or computer. Your video chats are private and secure. It's a convenient and easy way to see the doctor when it's late at night, you can't make it to the doctor's office, or you need an appointment fast.					
TMJ Temporomandibular Joint	Covered for recipients age 20 years and younger. TMJ services may be provided by a dentist or medical doctor. Surgery to correct a wide range of diseases, injuries and defects to the head, neck, face, jaw, and hard and soft tissues of the lower jaw and face region is covered.					
TRANSPLANTATION	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup] covers the following transplants for Medicaid- eligible adults (21 and older) when medically needed and not experimental<sup>†</sup>:</li> <li>Cornea</li> <li>Kidney</li> </ul>					
	<ul><li>Liver</li><li>Bone marrow</li></ul>					
	<ul> <li>[Amerigroup] covers any medically needed transplant that isn't experimental for:</li> <li>Medicaid members under age 21</li> <li>Nevada Check Up members through their 19th birthday</li> </ul>					

## Extra [Amerigroup] benefits

We provides extra benefits just for our members. These extra benefits are called value-added services and include:

- [Free Boys & Girls Clubs membership for children ages 5 to 14]
- [Free sports physicals every 12 months from an plan PCP for children ages 6 to 18]
- Free in-home pregnancy tests so you can find out early if you're pregnant
- [Taking Care of Baby and Me<sup>®</sup> education and rewards program for all pregnant members]
- [My Advocate Program screening and health education program for pregnant members]
- [[Books for Babies Program] no-cost books delivered to your home for newborn, 12 months and 24 months of age]
- [24-hour Nurse HelpLine talk to a registered nurse about medical questions and concerns anytime, day or night]
- [Live Health Online "visit" a doctor through online video chat any time day or night to get when you need an appointment fast, or to get quick care for minor illnesses like colds, allergies, flu or infections]
- [Free cellphone with free monthly minutes, data and text messages]
- [Healthy Rewards programs get debit card dollars for doing things that are good for your health]
- [[Holistic smoking cessation program] our program includes coaching, written and online education and [Nicotine replacement therapy (NRT)] delivered to your home]
- [Health education classes]
- [Free dental hygiene kits to keep your teeth healthy]
- [Podiatry services for diabetic patients over 21 years of age]
- [Help getting to your doctor with extra transportation benefits we provide bus passes and free rides for members who do not meet the eligibility requirements for the Medicaid transportation benefit]
- Member concierge services representatives provide personalized referral assistance and appointment scheduling to help you get to the doctor when you need care
- [Bedside delivery of medications medicines delivered to you when you're discharged from a hospital setting]
- [Transitional care assistance for extra help moving from a hospital stay to your home]
- [Text-based peer support services peer-led, text based crisis support for teens]
- [[GED/HiSet] assistance we'll cover the costs of the high school equivalency test]
- [Identification support if you lose your green card, ID or birth certificate, our behavioral health case managers will help you get a copy of the original document(s), and we'll cover the cost of the replacements]
- [[Community Resource Link] an online resource to help you find all available local community-based programs, benefits, and services]
- [Child day-care assistance several day care locations where you can get limited no-cost child care services for children between the ages of [0 – 5]]
- Shelter bed reservations program daily shelter beds available along with short-term, long-term and respite housing for those who qualify through New Hope Housing

We give you these benefits to help keep you and your family healthy and to thank you for choosing [Amerigroup] as your health insurance plan.

## Nevada Check Up premiums

A premium is a quarterly payment you pay for health care coverage for your child. Only Nevada Check Up members have premiums. Native Americans and Alaska Natives don't pay premiums.

Remember, if you have a quarterly premium and don't pay it, your child will be disenrolled. This premium will go toward your family cost-share. Your family cost-share is based on your total family income. To find out more about premiums, call the Nevada Check Up program at [775-684-3777] or toll free at [1-800-992-0900]. You can also go to the Nevada Check Up website at [www.nevadacheckup.nv.gov].

## SERVICES COVERED BY NEVADA CHECK UP OR NEVADA MEDICAID

Some services are covered by Nevada Check Up or Medicaid instead of [Amerigroup]. You don't need a referral for these services.

These are called carved-out services and include:

- Adult day health care
- Children in out-of-home placement
- Home- and community-based waiver services\*
- Hospice\*
- Indian health service facilities and tribal clinics
- Intermediate care facilities for members with intellectual disabilities\*
- Nonemergency transportation (only available to Medicaid members)\*\*
- Nursing facility stays beginning on the 46th calendar day\*
- Evaluations/screening for appropriate level of care before admission to a facility residential treatment centers for Medicaid members\*
- School-based child health care services ([Amerigroup] covers when provided by federally qualified health centers or rural health clinics)
- Treatment for severe emotional disturbance/serious mental illness

If you have questions about how to obtain these services, please contact [Amerigroup] Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)), [Monday through Friday from [7 a.m. to 7 p.m]. Pacific time]. We can help you.

\*Members who receive these services will be disenrolled from [Amerigroup] and will get health care benefits directly from Fee-For-Service Medicaid or Nevada Check Up.

\*\*Nonemergency transportation is available for Medicaid recipients through the state's transportation vendor, MTM. As of August 24, 2011, nonemergency transportation service is no longer available to Nevada Check Up recipients.

## SERVICES THAT DON'T NEED A REFERRAL

It is always best to ask your primary care provider (PCP) for a referral for any [Amerigroup] covered service. But you can get the following services without a referral:

• Behavioral health care

- Care provided by your plan PCP's nurse or doctor's assistant
- Emergency care
- Eye exams from a plan eye care provider (optometrist)
- Family planning services from any qualified family planning provider
- Healthy Kids visits to a plan provider
- Prenatal care from a plan obstetrician or certified nurse-midwife
- Yearly exams from a plan OB-GYN

## SERVICES OFFERED BY [AMERIGROUP] WHEN TRANSFERRING TO/FROM ANOTHER MANAGED CARE ORGANIZATION OR FEE-FOR-SERVICE MEDICAID

When transferring from another managed care organization (MCO) or from fee-for-service Medicaid:

- We will honor services approved by your prior Medicaid provider as your care is transitioned
- We will assess and transition continuing services to plan providers if needed
- We will make arrangements with your prior providers if care can't be transitioned

When transferring to another MCO or to fee-for-service Medicaid:

- We will communicate services we approved to your new Medicaid provider
- Our nursing staff will communicate current treatments and care to your new Medicaid provider

Please contact [Amerigroup] Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] [Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m.] Pacific time] to notify us of your transitional needs. We will assign a nurse to help coordinate your care as you join [Amerigroup].

## SERVICES NOT OFFERED BY [AMERIGROUP], NEVADA CHECK UP OR FEE-FOR-SERVICE MEDICAID

The following are not covered:

- Anything experimental, such as a new treatment that's being tested or hasn't been shown to work
- Anything that isn't medically needed
- Sterilization for members under age 21 or members who are institutionalized or mentally incompetent
- Elective abortions

If you choose to get a service that isn't covered, you'll have to pay for it. Your provider may ask you to sign a form. This form tells your provider you understand and agree to pay for the service.

## **NEW TECHNOLOGY**

Advances in medical technology bring new treatments to the market all the time. We want to make sure you have access to medical and behavioral health treatments that are safe and effective. So, we review them to make sure they're safe and effective, and they work the way they are supposed to.

We use the following in our review process:

- Scientific literature
- Peer-reviewed medical journals

- Nationally recognized guidelines by accredited medical specialty societies
- Current medical community standards
- Government regulatory bodies, such as the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
- Medical experts in the condition the new treatment is for

## DIFFERENT TYPES OF HEALTH CARE

#### Routine, urgent and emergency care: what's the difference?

#### **Routine care**

In most cases, when you aren't feeling well and need medical care, you visit your PCP. This type of care is known as **routine care**. Some examples are most minor illnesses and injuries and regular checkups. You should be able to see your PCP within two weeks for routine care.

Your PCP also takes care of you before you get sick. This is called wellness care and includes checkups, shots and screenings. See the section in this handbook **Wellness Care for Children and Adults**.

#### **Urgent care**

Some injuries and illnesses aren't emergencies, but can turn into emergencies if not treated within 24 hours. This type of care is called **urgent care**. Some examples are:

- Throwing up
- Minor burns or cuts
- Earaches
- Headaches
- Sore throat
- Fever over 101 degrees
- Muscle sprains/strains

If you need urgent care:

- Call your PCP. Your PCP will tell you what to do.
- Follow your PCP's instructions. Your PCP may tell you to go to:
  - His or her office right away
  - Some other office to get immediate care
  - An urgent care location.
- Use LiveHealth Online at LiveHealthonline.com

You can also call our 24-hour Nurse HelpLine at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] if you need advice about urgent care. You should be able to see your PCP within two days for an urgent-care appointment.

#### **Emergency care**

What is an emergency? An emergency is anything that could cause very serious harm or death if not treated immediately. This means someone with an average knowledge of health and medicine can tell the problem may threaten your life or cause serious harm to you or your unborn child if you're pregnant. Here are some examples of problems that are most likely emergencies:

- Trouble breathing
- Chest pains
- Loss of consciousness
- Very bad bleeding that doesn't stop
- Very bad burns
- Shakes called convulsions or seizures

#### If you have an emergency, do one of the following:

- Call 911.
- Go to the nearest hospital emergency room. The hospital doesn't need to be a part of the [Amerigroup] plan for you to get emergency care. You will be able to continue to get care until your health has stabilized.
- Go to an urgent care center

You should be able to see a physician right away. You don't need a referral from your PCP or another provider to get emergency care.

If you want advice about emergency care, call your PCP or our [24-hour Nurse HelpLine] at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]. Treatment for medical emergencies doesn't need prior approval by [Amerigroup].

After you visit the emergency room, it's important to call your PCP as soon as possible. If you can't, have someone else call for you.

It may be necessary for you to get additional care to keep your condition stable after an emergency. This care is sometimes referred to as post-stabilization care. Post-stabilization care is a covered service.

#### How to get health care when your doctor's office is closed

Except in the case of an emergency or when you need care that doesn't need a referral, you should always call your PCP **first** before you get medical care. If you call your PCP's office when it is closed, leave a message with your name and a phone number where you can be reached. If it isn't an emergency, someone should call you back soon to tell you what to do. You may also:

- Call our [24-hour Nurse HelpLine] to speak to a nurse 24 hours a day, 7 days a week
- Use [Live Health Online] to video chat with a doctor any time day or night to get quick care for minor illnesses like colds, allergies, flu or infections

If you think you need emergency services, call 911 or go to the nearest emergency room right away.

#### How to get health care when you are out of town

- If you need emergency services when you're out of town, go to the nearest hospital emergency room or call 911.
- If you need urgent care:
  - Call your PCP. If your PCP's office is closed, leave a phone number where you can be reached. Someone should call you back within [30 minutes].
  - Follow your PCP's instructions. You may be told to get care right away.
  - Call our [24-hour Nurse HelpLine].

- If you need routine care like a checkup or a prescription refill:
  - Call your PCP.
  - Call our [24-hour Nurse HelpLine].
- \* If you are outside of the United States and get health care services, they will not be covered by [Amerigroup], Nevada Check Up or fee-for-service Medicaid.

#### How to get health care when you can't leave your home

If you can't leave your home, we'll find a way to help take care of you. Call Member Services right away. We'll put you in touch with a case manager who'll help you get the medical care you need.

## WELLNESS CARE FOR CHILDREN AND ADULTS

All [Amerigroup] members need to have regular wellness visits, including checkups and screenings, with their Primary Care Provider (PCP). Your PCP will provide care based on nationally accepted guidelines. During a wellness visit, your PCP may detect problems before they worsen. When you become an [Amerigroup] member, make an appointment with your PCP within [90 days].

#### When you or your child misses one of your wellness visits

If you or your child does not get to a wellness visit on time:

- Make an appointment with the PCP as soon as you can
- Call Member Services if you need help setting up the appointment

If your child hasn't visited his or her PCP on time, we'll send you a postcard reminding you to make your child's well-child appointment.

#### Wellness care for children, the Healthy Kids program

#### Why well-child visits are important for children

Children need more wellness visits than adults. These wellness visits for children are called [Healthy Kids] visits. [Healthy Kids] is a program for:

- Medicaid members until their 21st birthday
- Nevada Check Up members until their 19th birthday

Babies need to see their PCP at least seven times in their first year and more times if they get sick. If your child has special needs or a condition like asthma or diabetes, one of our care coordinators can help your child get checkups, tests and shots.

Your child can get Healthy Kids checkups from his or her PCP or any plan provider. These Healthy Kids visits include:

- A comprehensive review of your child's physical, developmental and mental growth
- A complete unclothed physical exam
- Immunizations (shots) for your child that will help protect him or her from illnesses
- Laboratory tests (blood lead screening, urinalysis, tuberculin skin test, sickle cell, hemoglobin/hematocrit, etc.)

- Health education and help with preventive care
- Vision and hearing screenings

Your child doesn't need a referral for these visits.

## When your child should get Healthy Kids visits

#### Well-child care in your baby's first year of life

The first well-child visit will be in the hospital. This happens right after the baby is born. For the next seven visits, you must take your baby to his or her PCP's office. Set up a Healthy Kids visit with the doctor when the baby is:

• 3-5 days old

- 6 months old
- 1 month old
- 9 months old
- 2 months old
- 12 months old
- 4 months old

#### Well-child care in your baby's second year of life

Starting in your baby's second year of life, he or she should see the doctor at least four more times:

- 15 months
- 18 months
- 24 months
- 30 months

#### Well-child care for children ages 3 through 20

Your child should see the doctor again at ages 3, 4 and 5. Be sure to set up these visits. It's important to take your child to his or her PCP when scheduled.

Starting at age 6, your child should go to the doctor every year for a checkup until he or she reaches:

- Age 21 for Medicaid members
- Age 19 for Nevada Check Up members

## **Blood lead screening**

Your child's PCP will screen your child for lead poisoning at 12 months and 24 months of age. Your child's PCP will take a blood sample by pricking your child's finger or heel, or taking blood from his or her vein. The test will tell if your child has lead in his or her blood. If your child is at risk of lead exposure, he or she may get a blood test once each year until age 6.

#### Vision screening

Your child's PCP should check your child's vision at every well-child visit. Please see the section **Eye Care** under the heading **SPECIAL KINDS OF HEALTH CARE** for more details.

#### **Hearing screening**

Your child's PCP should check your child's hearing at every well-child visit.

## Immunizations (shots)

It is important for your child to get shots on time. Follow these steps:

- 1) Take your child to the PCP when he or she needs shots.
- 2) Use this chart to help keep track of the shots your child needs.

IMMUNIZATION (SHOT) SCHEDULE FOR CHILDREN														
AGE ➡ VACCINE ➡	Birth	1 mo	2 mo	4 mo	6 mo	12 mo	15 mo	18 mo	19– 23 mo	2–3 years	4–6 years	7–10 years	11–12 years	13–18 years
Hepatitis B	HepB	Н	ерВ			Нер	В	1				Hep	B Series if	not given
Rotavirus			Rota	Rota	Rota if needed									
Diphtheria, Tetanus, Pertussis			DTaP	DTaP	DTaP		DT	āP			DTaP		Tdap	Tdap if not given
Haemophilus influenzae type b			Hib	Hib	Hib if needed	н	lib							
Pneumococcal			PCV	PCV	PCV	P	cv				if high- isk		PPSV if hig	h-risk
Inactivated Poliovirus			IPV	IPV		IPV	1	ļ			IPV		IPV Serie not giv	
Influenza									I	nfluenz	a (Year	ly)		
Measles, Mumps, Rubella						M	MR				MMR		MMR Se if not gi	
Varicella						Vari	cella				Vari- cella		Varicella S if not gi	
Hepatitis A						H	epA (	2 do	ses)		Hep	A Seri	es if high-r	isk
Menin- gococcal*										MCV	4 if higl	h-risk	MCV4	MCV4 if not given
Human Papillomavirus													HPV (3 doses)	HPV Series if not given

\*Meningococcal booster recommended at 16-17 years of age

## Wellness care for adults

Staying healthy means seeing your PCP regularly for checkups. Use this chart to make sure you are up to date with your yearly wellness exams.

WELLNESS VISITS SCHEDULE FOR ADULT MEMBERS						
ΕΧΑΜ ΤΥΡΕ	WHO NEEDS IT?	HOW OFTEN?				
Breast self-exam	Women age 20 and over	Once a month				
Clinical breast exam	Women age 20–39	Every three years				
	Women age 40 and over	Every year				
Fecal blood occult test	Men and women age 50 and over	Every year				
Mammograms (Breast X-ray)	Women age 40 and over	Every year				
Pap smear and pelvic exam	All women over 18, and women under age 18 who are sexually active	Every year				
Sigmoidoscopy and DRE/PSA Or colonoscopy and DRE/PSA	Men and women age 50 and over	Every five years				
Wellness visit	Men and women age 21–39	Every three years				

## SPECIAL KINDS OF HEALTH CARE

## Eye care

[Amerigroup] members don't need a referral from their PCPs for eye care benefits. Members can get:

- One complete eye exam every 12 months
  - Refractive exams

- Frames and lenses
- Follow-up exams
- Fittings, dispensing and adjustment of glasses
- Contact lenses (in certain circumstances)

Members age 20 and under get eyeglasses as often as medically needed\* (or for broken or lost glasses) as part of the Healthy Kids program.

\*A change in refractive error exceeding plus or minus 0.5 diopter or 10 degrees in axis deviation to qualify within a 12-month limit from the most recent exam.

See **Ophthalmology/Optometry Services** under the section **[Amerigroup] Covered Services** for more details. If you need help finding a plan eye doctor (optometrist) in your area, call eyeQuest toll free at 1-888-300-9025 (TTY 1-800-466-7566).

## Behavioral health (mental health/substance abuse)

Sometimes, dealing with all of the tasks of a home and family can lead to stress. Stress can lead to depression and anxiety. It can also lead to marriage, family and/or parenting problems. Stress can lead to alcohol and drug abuse, too.

If you or a family member is having these kinds of problems, you can get help. Call [Amerigroup] Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]. You can also get the name of a behavioral health specialist who will see you if you need one.

Your benefits include many medically needed services, such as:

- [Inpatient mental health care]
- [Outpatient mental health care and/or substance abuse treatment]
- [Mental health rehabilitative treatment services]

You don't need a referral from your PCP to get these services or to see a behavioral health specialist in your network.

If you think a behavioral health specialist doesn't meet your needs, talk to your PCP. He or she can help you find a different kind of specialist.

There are some treatments and services your PCP or behavioral health specialist must ask [Amerigroup] to approve before you can get them. Your doctor will be able to tell you what they are.

If you have questions about referrals and when you need one, contact Member Services at [1-800-600-4441] [(TTY 711)].

#### **Applied Behavioral Analysis**

Amerigroup has a benefit to help families with children 21 years and younger touched by autism. This benefit is called Applied Behavioral Analysis or ABA. When a child is diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), families need all the support they can get. The Behavioral Health team can help you find a provider certified in ABA services and determine if ABA is suitable for your child. They will also help you and your family with other referrals in order to offer you well-rounded support.

We offer you and your family Utilization Management and Case Management services from licensed behavioral health clinicians, which includes:

- Authorization and review of ABA services
- Connecting your family with community resources
- Providing on-going support and answering your questions about coverage, authorizations and providers, as well as assisting all members of the family.
- Helping you fit your new support systems into daily life

Our Behavioral Health team can guide your family through this process. They'll coordinate care and help you understand the healthcare system. Our goal is to help families make good use of their benefits. To learn more about the ABA benefit, call the Behavioral Health team at [1-800-454-3730] [TTY 711].

#### Family planning services

[Amerigroup] will arrange for counseling and education about planning a pregnancy. By talking to your PCP, you can learn about preventing pregnancy. You can also visit any family planning provider, even if the provider is not part of the [Amerigroup] network. You don't need a referral from your PCP.

#### **Medications**

[Amerigroup] has a list of commonly prescribed drugs. This list is called a Preferred Drug List (PDL). It's part of the [Amerigroup] formulary. Your or your child's PCP or specialist can choose from this list of drugs to help you get well. There are no copays for prescriptions on the preferred drug list.

The covered medicines on the PDL include:

- Prescriptions
- Certain non-prescription or over-the-counter (OTC) medicines

Go to [www.myamerigroup.com/NV] to get a copy of the PDL or call [Member Services] at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] to request one.

#### Things to remember about the Preferred Drug List:

- The Preferred Drug List (PDL) is a smaller version of the complete formulary.
- The PDL lists preferred drugs commonly prescribed in certain categories.
- All [Amerigroup] network providers have access to this drug list.
- Your or your child's primary care provider (PCP) or specialist should use this list when he or she writes a prescription.
- Certain medicines on the PDL need prior approval. For those medicines, your doctor must get approval from [Amerigroup] before you can fill your prescription. Call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)] to find out about the prior approval process for your medicine.

You can get prescriptions filled at any plan pharmacy. Plan pharmacies include most major pharmacy chains and many independent community pharmacies.

Here's a list of some of the pharmacies in our plan:

- CVS
- Walmart
- Kmart
- Raleys Drug Center
- Smith's Food & Drug Center
- Sav-On

Walgreens and Rite Aid are **not** plan pharmacies.

For a complete list of plan pharmacies:

- See the provider directory that came with your new member packet
- Go to [www.myamerigroup.com/NV] and click Find A Doctor

If you aren't sure if a pharmacy is in our plan, ask the pharmacist. You can also call Member Services for help at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)].

To get a prescription filled, follow these steps:

- 1) Take the written prescription from your provider to the pharmacy. Or your provider can call in the prescription to the pharmacy.
- 2) If you use a new pharmacy, tell the pharmacist about all of the medicines you are taking, including over-thecounter (OTC) medicines.
- 3) Show your [Amerigroup] ID card and your Medicaid ID card to the pharmacy.

It's good to use the same pharmacy each time. This way, your pharmacist:

- Will know all the medicines you are taking
- Can watch for problems that may occur when you are taking more than one prescription

## Special care for pregnant members

Taking Care of Baby and Me<sup>®</sup> is the [Amerigroup] program for all pregnant members. It's very important to see your PCP or OB/GYN for care when you're pregnant. This kind of care is called prenatal care. It can help you have a healthy baby. Prenatal care is always important, even if you have already had a baby. With our program, members receive health information and rewards for completing necessary prenatal appointments.

Our program also helps pregnant members with complicated health care needs. Nurse case managers work closely with these members to provide:

- Education
- Emotional support
- Help in following their doctor's care plan
- Information on services and resources in your community, such as transportation, WIC, breastfeeding and counseling

Our nurses also work with doctors to help keep you healthy and deliver healthy babies.

#### Get to know My Advocate™

My Advocate<sup>™</sup> delivers maternal health education by phone, text messaging and smartphone app that is helpful and fun. You will get to know Mary Beth, My Advocate's automated personality. Mary Beth will respond to your changing needs as your baby grows and develops. You can count on:

- Education you can use
- Communication with your case manager based on My Advocate<sup>™</sup> messaging should questions or issues arise
- An easy communication schedule
- No cost to you

With My Advocate<sup>™</sup>, your information is kept secure and private. Each time Mary Beth calls, she'll ask you for your year of birth. Please don't hesitate to tell her. She needs the information to be sure she's talking to the right person.

#### Helping you and your baby stay healthy

My Advocate<sup>™</sup> gives you answers to your questions, plus medical support if you need it. There will be one important health screening call followed by ongoing educational outreach. All you need to do is listen, learn and answer a question or two over the phone. If you tell us you have a problem, you'll get a call back from a case manager. My Advocate<sup>™</sup> topics include:

- Pregnancy and postpartum care
- Well-child care
- Dental care
- Immunizations
- Healthy living tips

#### When you become pregnant

If you think you are pregnant:

• Call your PCP or OB/GYN right away. You don't need a referral from your PCP to see an OB/GYN. Your OB/GYN should see you within seven days.

• Call Member Services if you need help finding a plan OB/GYN.

When you find out you are pregnant:

- Call your welfare caseworker; tell him or her you are pregnant. This is to make sure your baby gets the care he or she needs.
- Make an appointment as soon as possible.

We will send you a pregnancy education package. It will include:

- A letter welcoming you to the Taking Care of Baby and Me program.
- A self-care book with information about your pregnancy; you can also use this book to write down things that happen during your pregnancy.
- The Taking Care of Baby and Me reward program brochure; it tells you how to get your rewards for getting prenatal care.

While you are pregnant, you need to take good care of your health. You may be able to get healthy food from the Women, Infants and Children Program (WIC). Member Services can give you the phone number for the WIC program close to you. Just call us.

When you're pregnant, you must go to your PCP or OB-GYN at least:

- Every four weeks for the first six months
- Every two weeks for the seventh and eighth months
- Every week during the last month

Your PCP or OB/GYN may want you to visit more often based on your health needs.

#### When you have your new baby

When you deliver your baby, you and your baby may stay in the hospital at least:

- 48 hours after a vaginal delivery
- 96 hours after a Cesarean section (C-section)

You may stay in the hospital less time if your and your baby's providers think you and your baby are doing well. If you and your baby leave the hospital early, your PCP or OB/GYN may ask you to have an office or in-home nurse visit within 48 hours.

#### If you are a Nevada Check Up member:

• Call Nevada Check Up at 1-800-992-0900 within 14 calendar days of delivery. If you don't call Nevada Check Up within 14 calendar days of the birth, your baby will not be covered until the month after you call Nevada Check Up.

#### If you are a Medicaid member:

- Call [Amerigroup] Member Services as soon as you can.
  - Let your case manager know you had your baby. We will need to get information about your baby, too.
  - If you didn't pick a PCP for your baby before he or she was born, let the Member Services representative know. We can help you pick a PCP for your baby.
- Call your welfare caseworker to let the caseworker know your baby's name and date of birth. This is to make sure your baby gets the care he or she needs.

## After you have your baby

[Amerigroup] will send you the Taking Care of Baby and Me postpartum education package. It will include:

- A letter welcoming you to the postpartum part of the Taking Care of Baby and Me program
- A baby-care book with information about your baby's growth; you can also use this book to write down things that happen during your baby's first year
- Our Taking Care of Baby and Me reward program brochure; it tells you how to get your reward for your postpartum visit
- A brochure about postpartum depression

If you enrolled in My Advocate<sup>™</sup> and received educational calls during your pregnancy, you'll now get calls on postpartum and well child education up to 12 weeks after your delivery.

It's important to set up a visit with your PCP or OB/GYN for a postpartum checkup after you have your baby. You may feel well and think you are healing, but it takes the body at least six weeks to mend after delivery.

- The visit should be done between 21 and 56 days after you deliver
- If you delivered by C-section, your PCP or OB/GYN may ask you to come back for a one or two week post surgery checkup. This isn't considered a postpartum checkup. You'll still need to go back and see your doctor within 21 to 56 days after your delivery for your postpartum checkup

## DISEASE MANAGEMENT CENTRALIZED CARE UNIT

[Amerigroup] has a Disease Management Centralized Care Unit (DMCCU), which includes a team of licensed nurses and social workers, called DMCCU case managers. They are available to educate you about your condition and help you learn how to manage your care. Your primary care provider (PCP) and our team of DMCCU case managers will assist you with your health care needs.

DMCCU case managers provide support over the phone for members with:

- Diabetes
- HIV/AIDS
- Heart conditions
  - Coronary artery disease (CAD)
  - Congestive heart failure (CHF)
  - Hypertension
- Lung conditions
  - Asthma
  - Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)
- Behavioral health conditions
  - Bipolar disorder
  - Major depressive disorder
  - Schizophrenia
  - Substance use disorder

DMCCU case managers work with you to create health goals and help you develop a plan to reach them.

As a member in the program, you will benefit from having a case manager who:

- Listens to you and takes the time to understand your specific needs
- Helps you create a care plan to reach your health care goals
- Gives you the tools, support and community resources that can help you improve your quality of life
- Provides health information that can help you make better choices
- Assists you in coordinating care with your providers

As an [Amerigroup] member enrolled in the (DMCCU), you have certain rights and responsibilities. You have the right to:

- Have information about [Amerigroup]; this includes all [Amerigroup] programs and services, as well as our staff's education and work experience; it also includes contracts we have with other businesses or agencies
- Refuse to take part in or disenroll from programs and services we offer
- Know which staff members arrange your health care services and who to ask for a change
- Have [Amerigroup] help you make choices about your health care
- Learn about all DMCCU-related treatments; these include anything stated in the clinical guidelines, whether covered by [Amerigroup] or not; you have the right to discuss all options with your providers
- Have personal and medical information kept private under HIPAA; know who has access to your information and know what [Amerigroup] does to keep it private
- Be treated with courtesy and respect by [Amerigroup] staff
- File a complaint with [Amerigroup] and be told how to make a complaint; this includes knowing about the [Amerigroup] standards of timely response to complaints and resolving issues of quality
- Get information you can understand

You are encouraged to:

- Listen to and know the effects of accepting or rejecting health care advice
- Provide [Amerigroup] with information needed to carry out our services
- Tell [Amerigroup] and your providers if you decide to disenroll from DMCCU

If you have one of these conditions or would like to know more about our DMCCU, please call [1-888-830-4300 TTY 711)] [Monday through Friday from [8:30 a.m. to 5:30 p.m.] local time]. Ask to speak with a DMCCU case manager. You can also visit our website at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV] and log in with your member information. Then, choose *Programs and Info in Your Community*. You can also call DMCCU if you would like a copy of DMCCU materials you find online.

## SPECIAL [AMERIGROUP] SERVICES FOR HEALTHY LIVING

#### **Health information**

Learning more about health and healthy living can help you stay healthy. Here are some ways to get health information:

- Ask your primary care provider (PCP).
- Call us. Our Nurse HelpLine is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week to answer your questions. They can tell you:
  - If you need to see your PCP
  - How you can help take care of some health problems you may have

## Health A to Z

[Amerigroup] wants to help you make better health choices with Health A to Z. It's an online resource that's easy to use and includes a symptom checker and tests, tools and information on many health topics. Health A to Z is your one stop for questions about your health. Access Health A to Z on our website at [www.myamerigroup.com/NV], and choose Programs and Info in Your Community.

### **Health education classes**

[Amerigroup] can help you find classes near your home. You can call Member Services to find out where and when these classes are held.

Some of the classes include:

- Childbirth
- Infant care
- Parenting
- Pregnancy
- Quitting cigarette smoking
- Protecting yourself from violence
- Other classes about health topics

Some of the larger medical offices in our network show health videos. They talk about immunizations (shots), prenatal care and other important health topics. We hope you will learn more about staying healthy by watching these videos.

We will also mail a member newsletter to you twice a year. This gives you health news about well care and taking care of illnesses. It gives you tips on how to be a better parent and other topics.

#### **Community events**

[Amerigroup] sponsors and participates in special community events and family fun days where you can get health information and have a good time.

You can learn about topics like:

- Healthy eating
- Asthma
- Stress

People from [Amerigroup] will be there to answer your questions about your benefits, too. Call Member Services to find out when and where these events will be.

[Amerigroup] also sponsors monthly member meet and greets that provide information to educate you about your health care benefits and available services. These meet and greets are held throughout Clark and Washoe counties. Please call Member Services or go online to [www.myamerigroup.com/NV] for a list of upcoming dates and locations.

## **Boys & Girls Clubs**

[Amerigroup] offers this special benefit to members ages 6 to 11. Children can join their neighborhood Boys & Girls Clubs for free. The clubs are a great place for children to go after school. They have computers, homework help, sports, business training and much more. There is something for everyone. [Amerigroup] will pay for your child's annual membership. Each Boys & Girls Club site has different services and may have additional costs. Please call Member Services to learn how to join.

#### **Domestic violence**

Domestic violence is abuse. Abuse is unhealthy. Abuse is unsafe. It is never OK for someone to hit you. It is never OK for someone to make you afraid. Domestic violence causes harm and hurt on purpose. Domestic violence in the home can affect your children, and it can affect you. If you feel you may be a victim of abuse, call or talk to your PCP. Your PCP can talk to you about domestic violence. He or she can help you understand you have done nothing wrong and don't deserve abuse.

Safety tips for your protection:

- If you are hurt, call your PCP.
- Call 911 or go to the nearest hospital if you need emergency care. Please see the section **Emergency Care** for more information.
- Have a plan on how you can get to a safe place (like a women's shelter or a friend's or relative's home).
- Pack a small bag and give it to a friend to keep until you need it.

If you have questions or need help:

- Call our Nurse HelpLine at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]
- Call the National Domestic Violence hotline number at [1-800-799-7233 (TTY 711)]

## MINORS

Our network doctors and hospitals can't give care to most [Amerigroup] members under age 18 without a parent's or legal guardian's consent. This doesn't apply if emergency care is needed.

Parents or legal guardians also have the right to know what's in their child's medical records. Members under age 18 can ask their PCP not to tell their parents about their medical records, but the parents can still ask the PCP to see the medical records.

These rules don't apply to emancipated minors. Emancipated minors may make their own decisions about their medical care and the medical care of their children. Parents no longer have the right to see the medical records of emancipated minors.

Members under age 18 may be emancipated minors if they:

- Are married
- Have a child
- Are pregnant
- Are emancipated by court order

## ADVANCE DIRECTIVES (LIVING WILLS OR DURABLE POWERS OF ATTORNEY)

Emancipated minors and members over 18 years old have rights under the state's advance directive law. An advance directive is a written statement by you telling how you want medical decisions made if you become unable to decide for yourself. There are a few types of advance directives:

- Living will or declaration A living will tells your health care providers and family about the type of life-sustaining actions you want and don't want if you suffer from a terminal illness or an irreversible condition. A living will doesn't apply unless you can't make decisions for yourself; until then you'll be able to say what treatments you want or don't want.
- 2. **Durable power of attorney for health care** A durable power of attorney for health care will let you pick a person to make decisions for you when you can't make them yourself. You can also include information about any treatment you want or don't want. Ask your PCP or specialist about these forms.

You can have either a living will or a durable power of attorney for health, or you can have both documents. A living will is your personal statement regarding the types of life-sustaining treatment you want if you're not able to share your desires. A durable power of attorney for health care covers more than the living will. It covers any medical decisions, not just decisions concerning life-sustaining treatment.

If you wish to sign a living will, you can:

- Ask your PCP for a living will form or call Member Services to get one
- Fill out the form
- Take or mail the completed form to your PCP or specialist; your PCP or specialist will then know what kind of care you want to get

You can change your mind any time after you have signed a living will:

- Call your PCP or specialist to remove the living will from your medical record.
- Fill out and sign a new form if you wish to make changes in your living will.

Your PCP will require you to sign the Acknowledgement of Patient Information on Advance Directives form. Your signed form, along with your advance directive, will be kept on file with your medical record.

#### **Right to object**

Nevada law says your PCP and other providers, individually and/or institutionally, have the right to object to the request you make in your advance directive. You can find the law in the Nevada Revised Statutes Annotated Section 449.628.

#### Individual and institutional objection

An individual objection is when your individual PCP or other providers treating you will not honor your advance directive on the basis of their conscience (beliefs).

An institutional objection is when an entire institution, like a hospital or health system, will not honor your advance directive for reasons of conscience (beliefs). The range of medical conditions that may be objected to by individual and institutional providers could be different from provider to provider. Be sure to ask your PCP and other providers if they have objections to the requests you have included in your advance directive.

If your PCP or other provider objects to the request for care you make in your advance directive, you have the right to select another PCP or provider who will honor your request. Please call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)], [Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m.] Pacific time] for help.

If you have a grievance about your advance directive, contact Member Services or file your grievance with DHCFP at: [Division of Health Care Financing and Policy] [1100 E. William St., Suite 101] [Carson City, NV 89701]

[775-684-3676]

## **GRIEVANCES AND MEDICAL APPEALS**

If you have any questions or concerns about your [Amerigroup] benefits, please call Member Services at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]. You can also write to us.

#### Grievances

If you have a problem with our services or network providers, we would like you to tell us about it. Please call Member Services and we will try to solve your problem on the phone.

If we can't take care of the problem when you call us, you can file a grievance. You can:

- Write a letter to us and include information, such as:
  - The date the problem happened
  - The names of people involved
  - Details about the problem
- File a grievance on the phone
- Ask Member Services for help with writing a letter; include information such as the date the problem happened and the people involved
- Send your letter to: Quality Management Department [Amerigroup] Community Care Desert Canyon, Bldg. 9
   9133 W. Russell Road. Las Vegas, NV 89148

When we get your call or letter, we will:

- 1. Send you a letter within five calendar days to let you know we received your grievance
- 2. Look into your grievance in a timely manner
- 3. Send you a letter within 90 calendar days of when you first told us about your grievance; the letter will tell you what we decide

#### Second level grievance review

You may file a second level grievance review if you're not happy with our decision, and your grievance is about:

• Your ability to receive benefit coverage

- Access to care
- Access to services
- Payment for services

Ask us for a second level grievance review in writing within 90 calendar days of the date on the original grievance resolution letter we sent you. Mail your second level grievance review request to the same address that you sent your initial grievance request. We'll send you a letter within five calendar days to let you know we got your request. Someone at a higher level than the reviewer who looked at your initial grievance request will look at your second level request. We'll send you a letter with our decision within 30 calendar days.

The second level grievance review is the final level of review for grievances.

#### Appeals

#### **Medical appeals**

There may be times when [Amerigroup] says we will deny, end or reduce a service we approved. We may also say we won't pay for all or part of the care your provider asked for. If we decide to deny care a provider asked for or to end or reduce a service you're currently approved to get, we'll send you a letter called a Notice of Action.

For standard approval requests, [Amerigroup] has 14 days to respond and either approve or deny the service request.

For expedited (rushed) approval requests, when you need a quick response, [Amerigroup] has [72 hours or less] to respond and either approve or deny the service request. If [Amerigroup] is reducing or ending a previously authorized service, we must send you a Notice of Action at least 10 days before the date we plan to reduce or end the covered service.

If [Amerigroup] sends you a Notice of Action, you can appeal the decision. Your provider can appeal our decision for you if he or she has your written permission.

A medical appeal is when you ask us to look again at the care we said we wouldn't pay for. You must file for a medical appeal within 90 calendar days from the date on our first denial letter. A medical appeal can be filed by:

- You
- A person helping you
- Your PCP or the provider taking care of you at the time

If you want your PCP or provider to file an appeal for you, he or she must have your written permission unless you are asking for an expedited appeal

To continue receiving services we have already approved and are now denying, you or your provider must complete a Request to Continue Benefits during an Appeal or Fair Hearing form and return it to us on or before the later of:

- 10 calendar days after we mail the denial notice
- The date the notice says your service will end

You can appeal our decision in two ways:

- 1. <u>Call us</u>
  - Call Member Services and ask to appeal.
  - Let us know if you want someone else to help you with the appeal process, such as a family member, friend, your PCP or the provider taking care of you at the time.

If you call us, we will:

- Send you a Request for Appeal Review form. You must complete and sign this form and return it to us within 10 calendar days.
- Send you a letter within five calendar days from when we get your signed form to let you know we got your request for an appeal.

If you are asking for an expedited appeal, you don't need to send us any documents in writing. See the section called **Expedited Appeals** for details.

- 2. <u>Write us</u>
  - Send us a letter letting us know the care you are looking for and the people involved.
  - Have your doctor send us your medical information about this service to:

[Medical Appeals] [Amerigroup Community Care] [P.O. Box 62429] [Virginia Beach, VA 23466-2429] [Fax: 1-888-235-9334]

You or the person filing the appeal on your behalf can present information about your appeal either in writing or in person.

When we get your letter, we will send you a letter within five calendar days. The letter will let you know we got your request for appeal.

After we receive your appeal:

- A different provider than the one who made the first decision will look at your appeal
- We will send you and your provider a letter telling you our decision within 30 calendar days from when we get your appeal

We'll tell you and your provider how to find out more about the decision. We'll tell you your rights to request a state fair hearing if you aren't happy with our decision. You may also request a copy (free of charge) of the documents used to make the appeal decision, including your medical records and guidelines.

If we need more information about your appeal:

- We may ask for medical records to help us make a decision. You, your PCP or the provider giving you care must forward the records to us within seven calendar days
- Upon state approval or your request, we may extend the appeal process for 14 calendar days if it is in your best interest
- If the state approves our extension request, we will let you or the person you asked to file the appeal for you know in writing the reason for the delay

You may ask us to extend the process if you know more information that we should consider.

After you have completed the [Amerigroup] appeal process, you may ask for a state fair hearing. See the section **Fair Hearings** for more details.

### **Expedited** appeals

You or the person you ask to file an appeal for you can request an expedited appeal. You can request an expedited appeal if you or your provider feels that taking the time for the standard appeals process could seriously harm your life or your health.

You or your provider can request an expedited appeal in two ways:

- 1. Call Member Services toll free at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)], [Monday through Friday from [7 a.m. to 7 p.m.] Pacific time]
- 2. Mail a letter to:

[Member Appeals] [Amerigroup Community Care] [Desert Canyon, Bldg. 9] [9133 W. Russell Road] [Las Vegas, NV 89148]

When we get your letter or call, we will send you a letter with our decision within three calendar days.

If you have more information you'd like us to look at, you must get it to us right away (within one or two days). If we need more information about your appeal:

- Upon state approval, we may extend the appeals process for 14 days
- If the state approves our extension request, we will let you know in writing the reason for the delay

You may also ask us to extend the process if you have more details that we should review.

If we don't agree that your request for an appeal should be expedited, we'll:

- Call you right away
- Send you a letter within two calendar days to let you know how the decision was made and that your appeal will be reviewed through the standard review process of 30 calendar days

If the decision on your expedited appeal upholds (agrees with) our first decision and we will not pay for the care your doctor asked for, we'll call you and send you a letter. This letter will:

- Let you know how the decision was made
- Tell you about your rights to request an expedited state fair hearing

#### **Provider payment appeals**

If you receive a service from a provider and we don't pay for that service, you may receive a notice from [Amerigroup] called an Explanation of Benefits (EOB). **This isn't a bill.** The EOB will tell you:

- The date you received the service
- The type of service
- The reason we can't pay for the service

## If you receive an EOB, you don't need to call or do anything at that time, unless you want to appeal the decision.

A payment appeal is when your provider asks [Amerigroup] to look again at the service we said we wouldn't pay for. Your provider must ask for a payment appeal within 90 calendar days of receiving the EOB.

Payment appeals must be submitted in writing by your provider.

#### Fair hearings

You have the right to ask for a fair hearing from the state after the [Amerigroup] appeal process has been exhausted. You may ask for a fair hearing within 90 calendar days from the date of the appeal denial letter.

You can ask for a fair hearing by sending the Member State Fair Hearing form we sent you with the denial notice or a letter asking for a state fair hearing with the [Amerigroup] denial notice to: Nevada Division of Health Care Financing and Policy Hearings 1100 E. William St., Suite 102 Carson City, NV 89701

If you have any questions about your rights to request a fair hearing, call [Amerigroup] Member Services. If you have questions regarding the fair hearing, you may call the hearings supervisor in the Las Vegas area at [702-486-3000, ext. 43604]; or the Carson City area at [775-684-3604]. You may also call toll free [1-800-992-0900, ext. 43604].

If you ask for a fair hearing, you will get a letter from the state telling you the date and time of the hearing preparation meeting. The hearing preparation meeting will be held by phone, and you can explain why you disagree with the decision made by [Amerigroup]. If you proceed to a fair hearing, you must attend the fair hearing in person unless you get the hearing officer's consent to attend by phone. You don't have to pay any costs to take part in the hearing.

#### **Continuation of benefits**

You may ask [Amerigroup] to continue to cover your benefits during the appeal or fair hearing process. Call Member Services or send us the form you got with your Notice of Decision. The request to continue benefits applies to inpatient stays, outpatient services or pharmacy benefits approved by [Amerigroup] that you still get now.

Your first request to continue benefits may be verbal. But you must also ask in writing. If you want to keep getting benefits, please fill out the Request to Continue Benefits during an Appeal or a Fair Hearing form and return it to:

[Appeals Department] [Amerigroup Community Care] [Desert Canyon, Bldg. 9] [9133 W. Russell Road] [Las Vegas, NV 89148]

To continue services during the appeal or fair hearing:

• You must request to continue benefits within 10 calendar days of the notice of action or by the effective date of the reduction, suspension or termination of the service

- Any previously authorized course of treatment must have ended or been suspended or reduced
- Services must have been ordered by an authorized provider
- The coverage period of the original approval must still be in effect

We must continue coverage of your benefits until:

- You withdraw the appeal
- 10 days from the date of our first decision if you haven't requested a fair hearing
- A fair hearing decision is reached and isn't in your favor
- Authorization expires or your service limits are met

[Amerigroup] will pay for services you get during the time your benefits were continued until a final decision is made. You may have to pay for the cost of any continued benefit if the final decision isn't in your favor.

If a decision is made in your favor as a result of your appeal or fair hearing, we'll authorize and pay for the services we denied coverage of before.

## **OTHER INFORMATION**

#### If you move or your family size changes

If you're a Medicaid member, you must contact your welfare caseworker as soon as you move to report your new address or if your family size changes. Please find the number to call under the section Important Phone Numbers.

**If you're a Nevada Check Up member,** you should call Nevada Check Up when your family size changes or you move to a new address. Please find the number to call under the section **Important Phone Numbers**.

Once you call the state, you should then call [Amerigroup] Member Services. If you move out of the service area, you will continue to get health care services through us until you are disenrolled. You must call [Amerigroup] before you can get any services in your new area unless it is an emergency.

## How to renew your Medicaid or Nevada Check Up benefits on time

**Keep the right care.** You need to renew your benefits every 12 months. If you don't, you could lose your Medicaid or Nevada Check Up benefits, even if you still qualify.

**If you're a Nevada Medicaid member**, the Nevada Division of Welfare and Supportive Services (DWSS) will send you a letter telling you it is time to renew your Medicaid benefits. You will receive a renewal package about two months before the date you need to renew your benefits. You can return the packet via mail or renew online at www.dwss.nv.gov.

**If you're a Nevada Check Up member,** the Nevada Division of Health Care Financing and Policy (DHCFP) will send you a letter telling you it is time to renew your Nevada Check Up benefits. You will receive a renewal package about two months before the date you need to renew your benefits.

If you don't renew your eligibility by the date in the letter, you'll lose your health care benefits. Your DWSS or welfare caseworker can answer your questions about renewing your benefits. We want you to keep getting your health care benefits from us as long as you still qualify. Your health is very important to us.

## If you're no longer eligible for Medicaid or Nevada Check Up

You'll be disenrolled from [Amerigroup] if you're no longer eligible for Medicaid or Nevada Check Up benefits. If you're ineligible for Medicaid or Nevada Check Up for two months or less and then become eligible again, you'll be re-enrolled in [Amerigroup]. If possible, you'll be given the same PCP you had when you were in [Amerigroup] before. You'll be assigned to the same PCP as your other family members where appropriate.

## How to disenroll from [Amerigroup]

If you live in urban Clark or Washoe counties, you must be enrolled with a Managed Care Organization (MCO). In most cases, you will not be able to go back to the Fee-For-Service program unless you have a special medical condition that may qualify under the state's rules.

If you don't like something about [Amerigroup], please call Member Services. We'll work with you to try to fix the problem. If you're still not happy, you may:

Change to another health plan at any time during the first 90 days of enrolling with [Amerigroup]. If you're a
new Medicaid or Nevada Check Up member, you may mail your request to:
HPES

P.O. Box 30042

Reno, NV 89520.

Please include your Medicaid number, your address and your phone number.

- Change health plans after the first 90 days of enrollment with good cause. Good cause reasons to disenroll are:
  - You move out of the service area
  - [Amerigroup] doesn't, because of moral or religious objections, cover the service you seek
  - You need related services, not available in our network, to be performed at the same time, and your PCP or other provider believes getting the services separately would subject you to unnecessary risk
  - Poor quality of care, lack of access to covered services, lack of access to providers experienced in dealing with your health care needs, or if DHCFP imposes sanctions against [Amerigroup]
- Change health plans without cause during the annual open enrollment period
  - If you choose [Amerigroup] or a new managed care organization during open enrollment, you will be enrolled in the plan for the next 12 months. You can choose to switch back to your old managed care organization within the first 90 days after open enrollment. On the 91st day, you can only change health plans during the next 12 months if you can show good cause.

Wanting to go to a provider that isn't in the [Amerigroup] network isn't considered "good cause."

If you'd like to be disenrolled from [Amerigroup] to enroll in a different health plan, you can do one of the following:

- Call [Amerigroup] Member Services toll free to request a disenrollment form
- Send us a letter; include:
  - Your name

- [Amerigroup] ID number
- A phone number where you can be reached
- A complete description of your request to disenroll including specific supporting documentation of a good cause reason listed above

Send the completed disenrollment form or letter to:

[Disenrollment Department] [Amerigroup Community Care] [Desert Canyon, Bldg. 9] [9133 W. Russell Road.] [Las Vegas, NV 89148]

When we get your disenrollment form or letter, we'll review your request within [14 calendar days] of when we receive it. We'll send you a letter within 10 calendar days of when we make our decision.

The letter will let you know what we decide. If your health condition requires a faster response, we'll make our decision as quickly as possible based upon your medical needs.

## Reasons you can be disenrolled from [Amerigroup]

There are several reasons you could be disenrolled from [Amerigroup] without asking to be. Some of these are listed below. If you have done something that may lead to disenrollment, we'll contact you. We'll ask you to tell us what happened.

You could be disenrolled if:

- You are no longer eligible for Medicaid or Nevada Check Up
- You move out of the [Amerigroup] service area
- You don't pay your Nevada Check Up premiums on a quarterly basis
- You let someone else use your [Amerigroup] ID card
- You try to hurt a provider, a staff person or [Amerigroup] associate
- You steal or destroy property of a provider or [Amerigroup]
- You try to hurt other patients or make it hard for you or other patients to get needed care
- You have to stay in a nursing facility for more than 45 days
- You have to stay in a swing bed at an acute hospital for more than 45 days
- You are placed in an intermediate care facility for the mentally retarded or an institution for mental diseases
- You need adult day health care
- You choose a Home- and Community-based Waiver program
- You're detained by or entrusted to the state
- You're placed in a residential treatment center (Medicaid Members only)

If you have any questions about your enrollment, call Member Services.

## If you get a bill or your primary care provider charges you a fee

When going to a provider, always verify that he or she is in the [Amerigroup] network. Always show your [Amerigroup] ID card when you visit a provider, go for tests or to the hospital. Showing your member ID card tells the provider to bill the covered medical services to [Amerigroup].

Under the Nevada Medicaid and Nevada Check Up program, your PCP <u>cannot</u> bill you or charge you a fee for any of the following:

- You cancel or don't go to your appointment
  - If you refuse to sign a form saying you will pay for missed appointments, your provider isn't allowed to withhold treatment or refuse to let you return
- You ask for the **first** copy of your medical records
  - You'll be charged a reasonable fee for extra copies
- Your PCP doesn't submit your claim for services to [Amerigroup] within a certain period of time
- Your PCP's claim for services has been rejected by [Amerigroup] and your provider hasn't submitted a corrected claim within a certain period of time

If you're charged for any of these reasons, please call Member Services to report the issue. [Amerigroup] will contact your PCP and notify them they're not allowed to send you a bill.

If you do get a bill for medical services your PCP provided to you, send it to [Amerigroup] with a letter saying you've been sent a bill. [Amerigroup] will contact your PCP. Send the letter to:

[Claims] [Amerigroup Community Care] [P.O. Box 61010] [Virginia Beach, VA 23466-1010]

You can also call Member Services for help.

You *will* receive a bill when your PCP performs a service that has been denied as not medically needed or isn't an [Amerigroup] covered benefit, **only** if both of the following conditions are met:

- You request the specific service or item
- Your PCP obtains and keeps a written acknowledgement statement in your medical chart signed by you and your provider stating the following:

"I understand that, in the opinion of (<u>Provider's Name</u>), the services or items I have requested to be provided to me on (<u>Dates of Service</u>) may not be covered under Amerigroup as being reasonable and medically necessary for my care or be an Amerigroup-covered benefit. I understand that Amerigroup has established the medical necessity standards for the services or items that I request and receive. I also understand that I'm responsible for payment of the services or items I request and receive if these services or items are determined to be inconsistent with the Amerigroup medically necessary standards for my care or are not covered benefits."

Signature:	 	 
Date:	 	 

## If you have other health insurance (coordination of benefits)

Please call your welfare caseworker and [Amerigroup] Member Services if you or your children have other insurance. The other insurance plan needs to be billed for your health care services before [Amerigroup] can be billed. [Amerigroup] will work with the other insurance plan on payment for these services.

## Changes in your [Amerigroup] coverage

Sometimes, [Amerigroup] may have to make changes in the way we work, our covered services or our network providers and hospitals. We'll mail you a letter when we make changes in the services we cover. Your PCP's office may move, close or leave our network. If this happens, we'll call or send you a letter to tell you about this.

We can also help you pick a new PCP. You can call Member Services if you have any questions. Member Services can also send you a current list of our network PCPs.

## How to tell [Amerigroup] about changes you think we should make

We want to know what you like and don't like about [Amerigroup]. Your ideas will help make us better. Please call Member Services to tell us your ideas. You can also send a letter to: [Amerigroup Community Care]

[P.O. Box 62509] [Virginia Beach, VA 23462]

Members can also serve on the Consumer Advocacy Committee, which meets quarterly. This offers members a time to find out more about us, ask questions and give us suggestions for improvement. If you'd like to be part of this group, call Member Services.

Each year, we send surveys to some members. The surveys ask questions about how you like [Amerigroup]. If we send you a survey, please fill it out and send it back. Our staff may also call to ask how you like [Amerigroup]. Please tell them what you think. Your ideas can help us make us better. We want to give you the quality care you deserve.

## How [Amerigroup] measures the quality of your care

To help providers and health plan employees choose the best care for specific health issues, we have a process to create, change and distribute nationally known Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPGs) and health service delivery standards to all our providers. Members can also request a copy of the guidelines by contacting Member Services or the Quality Management department.

CPGs are based on scientific evidence and focus on a broad range of health care including:

- Preventive health (keeping you healthy)
- Maternity care to help ensure healthy moms and babies
- Diabetes
- Cardiac care
- Mental health
- And other conditions

[Amerigroup] measures how often you need care and the quality of care you receive through a set of standard performance measures related to these guidelines, including:

• Frequency of childhood wellness visits

- Childhood immunizations
- Lead screenings
- Mammograms and Pap smears
- Pregnancy care
- Diabetes screenings and tests

These measures are tracked with other health plans. These measures also give us the chance to help improve your health by:

- Providing educational tools to you and your PCP through newsletters and community events
- Mailing reminder cards to you and your family members to help you get routine preventive care and shots on time

#### Why does [Amerigroup] measure quality of care?

These results tell us how healthy you are. Some of the measures have tests that show good health or the right types of care. Some tests tell us when we need to watch your health to keep you from getting sick.

#### What does this mean to you?

[Amerigroup] wants to help you stay healthy. You are the most important decision maker when it comes to making health care choices. - [Amerigroup] reviews the care and services available to you, what we have provided and your feedback . This helps us learn how we can make our services better.

#### What can you do about your own health?

You can also help your PCP know what kind of care is right for you by following these important steps:

- Get tests and health care services on time
- Keep appointments for routine checkups to help keep you healthy
- Read and follow the instructions on any reminders you get from [Amerigroup]

If you have a question about your health or the kind of care you might need, please call our 24-hour Nurse HelpLine at [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)]. Nurses are available any time, day or night.

#### How [Amerigroup] pays providers

Different providers in our network have agreed to be paid in different ways by us. Your provider may be paid each time he or she treats you (Fee-For-Service). Or your provider may be paid a set fee each month for each member whether or not the member actually gets services (capitation). Your provider may also participate in the [Amerigroup] Provider Quality Incentive Program (PQIP).

These kinds of pay may include ways to earn more money. This kind of pay is based on different things like how happy a member is with the care or quality of care. It is also based on how easy it is to find and get care.

If you want more details about how our contracted providers or any other providers in our network are paid, please call the [Amerigroup] Member Services department or write to us at:

[Amerigroup Community Care] [P.O. Box 62509] [Virginia Beach, VA 23462]

## YOUR RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES AS AN [AMERIGROUP] MEMBER

#### Your rights

#### As an [Amerigroup] member, you have the right to:

- Be treated with respect and in terms of your dignity and right to privacy; this includes:
  - Knowing your medical records and discussions with your primary care providers (PCPs) will be kept private and confidential
  - Being treated fairly
- Receive information about [Amerigroup], our services, PCPs and providers, and your rights and responsibilities
- Choose a PCP who is part of the [Amerigroup] network and to refuse care from specific PCPs and providers; this includes:
  - Knowing how to choose and change your health plan and PCP
  - Choosing any health plan you want that is available in your area and choosing your PCP from that plan
  - Changing your PCP
  - Selecting a specialist to serve as your PCP if you have a chronic condition
  - Changing your health plan without penalty
- Participate in the decision-making process for your health care; this includes:
  - Working as part of a team with your PCP to decide what health care is best for you
  - Taking part in an honest discussion on the proper or medically needed treatment options for your condition, without concern about the cost or benefit coverage
  - Deciding on care recommended by your PCP
  - Being told and understanding the results of the decision
  - Refusing treatment
- Express and expect resolution of grievances and appeals about:
  - [Amerigroup]
  - Our network PCPs and providers
  - The care you're provided
- Create an advance directive to tell your doctor the kind of care you want if you're not able to communicate your decisions
- Have access to your medical records in agreement with all Federal and state laws, and be able to request the records be changed or corrected in agreement with Federal and state laws
- Make suggestions about the [Amerigroup] Member Rights and Responsibilities policy
- Be free from any form of restraint or seclusion used as a means of coercion, discipline, convenience or retaliation
- Get information on available treatment options and alternatives in a way you are able to understand

## Your responsibilities

As an [Amerigroup] member, you have the responsibility to:

- Provide information, the best that you can, to help [Amerigroup] and our providers give you the right care, including:
  - Telling your PCP about your health
  - Talking to your PCP about your health care needs and asking questions about your treatment options
  - Helping your PCP get your medical records
  - Providing your PCP with the right information
- Follow instructions and guidelines given by [Amerigroup], your PCP and other providers
- Understand your health problems and work with your PCP and providers to find an agreed upon plan to help treat your illness or condition, including:
  - Working as a team with your PCP to decide what health care is best for you
  - Understanding how what you do can affect your health
  - Doing the best you can to stay healthy
  - Treating providers and staff with respect
- Notify [Amerigroup] if you have other health insurance
- Carry your ID card at all times

Call [Amerigroup] Member Services if you have a problem and need help.

[Amerigroup] provides health coverage to our members on a nondiscriminatory basis, according to state and federal law, regardless of gender, race, age, religion, national origin, physical or mental disability, or type of illness or condition.

## HOW TO REPORT SOMEONE WHO IS MISUSING THE MEDICAID OR NEVADA CHECK UP PROGRAM

#### Important terms

Fraud is any deception or misrepresentation made intentionally through willful ignorance, or reckless disregard by a person or entity, in order to receive benefits or funds to which they aren't entitled.

Abuse includes practices that are inconsistent with sound financial, business or medical practices that results in unnecessary cost to the government healthcare program, such as Medicaid or Check Up, or in reimbursement for services that aren't medically necessary or that fail to meet professionally recognized standards for health care. It also includes any practices by Medicaid and Check Up members that result in unnecessary costs to the Medicaid or Check Up programs. **An overpayment is a payment made to a provider that is over the amount due for the service provided.** 

If you know someone who is misusing (through fraud, abuse and/or overpayment) the Medicaid or Check Up programs, you can report him or her.

## To report doctors, clinics, hospitals, nursing homes, or Medicaid or Nevada Check Up enrollees, write or call [Amerigroup] at:

[Corporate Investigations Department]

[Amerigroup Community Care] [4425 Corporation Lane] [Virginia Beach, VA 23462] [1-800-600-4441]

Suspicions of fraud and abuse can be emailed directly to the [Amerigroup Community Care Corporate Investigations department] at [corpinvest@amerigroup.com].

**Online:** Suspicions of fraud and abuse can also be sent to the Corporate Investigations department through the [Amerigroup] website at [www.myamerigroup.com]. There are fraud and abuse links on the website to report details about a possible issue. This information is sent directly to the email address above, which is checked every business day.

#### You can also call the Attorney General's Fraud Hotline at [1-800-266-8688].

WE HOPE THIS BOOK HAS ANSWERED MOST OF YOUR QUESTIONS ABOUT [AMERIGROUP]. FOR MORE INFORMATION, CALL MEMBER SERVICES AT [1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)).

This handbook is not a certificate of insurance and shall not be construed or interpreted as evidence of insurance coverage between Amerigroup and the enrollee.

# THIS NOTICE DESCRIBES HOW MEDICAL INFORMATION ABOUT YOU MAY BE USED AND DISCLOSED AND HOW YOU CAN GET ACCESS TO THIS INFORMATION WITH REGARD TO YOUR HEALTH BENEFITS. PLEASE REVIEW IT CAREFULLY.

## **HIPAA NOTICE OF PRIVACY PRACTICES**

The original effective date of this notice was April 14, 2003. The most recent revision date is shown at the end of this notice.

Please read this notice carefully. This tells you who can see your protected health information (PHI). It tells you when we have to ask for your OK before we share it. It tells you when we can share it without your OK. It also tells you what rights you have to see and change your information.

Information about your health and money is private. The law says we must keep this kind of information, called PHI, safe for our members. That means if you're a member right now or if you used to be, your information is safe.

We get information about you from state agencies for Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program after you become eligible and sign up for our health plan. We also get it from your doctors, clinics, labs and hospitals so we can OK and pay for your health care.

Federal law says we must tell you what the law says we have to do to protect PHI that's told to us, in writing or saved on a computer. We also have to tell you how we keep it safe. To protect PHI:

- On paper (called physical), we:
  - Lock our offices and files
  - Destroy paper with health information so others can't get it
- Saved on a computer (called technical), we:
  - Use passwords so only the right people can get in
  - Use special programs to watch our systems
- Used or shared by people who work for us, doctors or the state, we:
  - Make rules for keeping information safe (called policies and procedures)
  - Teach people who work for us to follow the rules

#### When is it OK for us to use and share your PHI?

We can share your PHI with your family or a person you choose who helps with or pays for your health care if you tell us it's OK. Sometimes, we can use and share it **without** your OK:

- For your medical care
  - To help doctors, hospitals and others get you the care you need
- For payment, health care operations and treatment
  - To share information with the doctors, clinics and others who bill us for your care
  - When we say we'll pay for health care or services before you get them
  - To find ways to make our programs better, as well as giving your PHI to health information exchanges for payment, health care operations and treatment. If you don't want this, please visit [www.myamerigroup.com/pages/privacy.aspx] for more information.
- For health care business reasons
  - To help with audits, fraud and abuse prevention programs, planning and everyday work
  - To find ways to make our programs better

#### • For public health reasons

- To help public health officials keep people from getting sick or hurt
- With others who help with or pay for your care
  - With your family or a person you choose who helps with or pays for your health care, if you tell us it's OK
  - With someone who helps with or pays for your health care, if you can't speak for yourself and it's best for you

We must get your OK in writing before we use or share your PHI for all but your care, payment, everyday business, research or other things listed below. We have to get your written OK before we share psychotherapy notes from your doctor about you.

You may tell us in writing that you want to take back your written OK. We can't take back what we used or shared when we had your OK. But we will stop using or sharing your PHI in the future.

#### Other ways we can — or the law says we have to – use your PHI:

- To help the police and other people who make sure others follow laws
- To report abuse and neglect
- To help the court when we're asked
- To answer legal documents
- To give information to health oversight agencies for things like audits or exams
- To help coroners, medical examiners or funeral directors find out your name and cause of death
- To help when you've asked to give your body parts to science
- For research
- To keep you or others from getting sick or badly hurt
- To help people who work for the government with certain jobs
- To give information to workers' compensation if you get sick or hurt at work

#### What are your rights?

- You can ask to look at your PHI and get a copy of it. We don't have your whole medical record, though. If you want a copy of your whole medical record, ask your doctor or health clinic.
- You can ask us to change the medical record we have for you if you think something is wrong or missing.
- Sometimes, you can ask us not to share your PHI. But we don't have to agree to your request.
- You can ask us to send PHI to a different address than the one we have for you or in some other way. We can do this if sending it to the address we have for you may put you in danger.
- You can ask us to tell you all the times over the past six years we've shared your PHI with someone else. This won't list the times we've shared it because of health care, payment, everyday health care business or some other reasons we didn't list here.
- You can ask for a paper copy of this notice at any time, even if you asked for this one by email.
- If you pay the whole bill for a service, you can ask your doctor not to share the information about that service with us.

#### What do we have to do?

- The law says we must keep your PHI private except as we've said in this notice.
- We must tell you what the law says we have to do about privacy.
- We must do what we say we'll do in this notice.
- We must send your PHI to some other address or in a way other than regular mail if you ask for reasons that make sense, like if you're in danger.
- We must tell you if we have to share your PHI after you've asked us not to.
- If state laws say we have to do more than what we've said here, we'll follow those laws.
- We have to let you know if we think your PHI has been breached.

#### We may contact you

You agree that we, along with our affiliates and/or vendors, may call or text any phone numbers you give us, including a wireless phone number, using an automatic telephone dialing system and/or a pre-recorded message. Without limit, these calls or texts may be about treatment options, other health-related benefits and services, enrollment, payment or billing.

#### What if you have questions?

If you have questions about our privacy rules or want to use your rights, please call Member Services at **[1-800-600-4441]**. [If you're deaf or hard of hearing, call **TTY 711**].

#### What if you have a complaint?

We're here to help. If you feel your PHI hasn't been kept safe, you may call Member Services or contact the Department of Health and Human Services. Nothing bad will happen to you if you complain.

#### Write to or call the Department of Health and Human Services:

[Office for Civil Rights] [U.S. Department of Health and Human Services] [90 Seventh St., Suite 4-100] [San Francisco, CA 94103] [Phone: 1-800-368-1019] [TDD: 1-800-537-7697] [Fax: 415-437-8329]

We reserve the right to change this Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) notice and the ways we keep your PHI safe. If that happens, we'll tell you about the changes in a newsletter. We'll also post them on the Web at [www.myamerigroup.com/pages/privacy.aspx].

#### Race, ethnicity and language

We receive race, ethnicity and language information about you from the state Medicaid agency and the Children's Health Insurance Program. We protect this information as described in this notice.

We use this information to:

- Make sure you get the care you need
- Create programs to improve health outcomes
- Develop and send health education information
- Let doctors know about your language needs
- Provide translator services

We do **not** use this information to:

- Issue health insurance
- Decide how much to charge for services
- Determine benefits
- Disclose to unapproved users

#### Your personal information

We may ask for, use and share personal information (PI) as we talked about in this notice. Your PI is not public and tells us who you are. It's often taken for insurance reasons.

- We may use your PI to make decisions about your:
  - Health
  - Habits
  - Hobbies
- We may get PI about you from other people or groups like:
  - Doctors
  - Hospitals
  - Other insurance companies
- We may share PI with people or groups outside of our company without your OK in some cases.
- We'll let you know before we do anything where we have to give you a chance to say no.
- We'll tell you how to let us know if you don't want us to use or share your PI.
- You have the right to see and change your PI.
- We make sure your PI is kept safe.

Revised January 28, 2016